Regularity of quantum τ -functions generated by quantum birational Weyl group actions

Gen Kuroki*

June 15, 2012

Abstract

We canonically quantize the τ -functions for the birational Weyl group action arising from a nilpotent Poisson algebra proposed by Noumi and Yamada. We also construct the q-difference deformation of the canonical quantization of the τ -functions. Using the translation functors for the symmetrizable Kac-Moody algebras, we prove the regularity of the quantum τ -functions, namely, we show that the quantum τ -functions are polynomials in dependent variables.

Contents

0	Intr	roduction	2
	0.1	Classical case	2
	0.2	Quantization	4
	0.3	Conventions	5
1	Qua	antization of birational Weyl group actions	6
	1.1	Symmetrizable GCM and Weyl group	6
	1.2	Quantum algebras of dependent variables	6
	1.3	Quantum algebras with parameter variables	Ć
	1.4	Quantum difference operator algebras and τ -variables	10
	1.5	Quantum algebras with fractional powers	11
	1.6	Tilde action of the Weyl group	12
	1.7	Quantum birational Weyl group action	12
	1.8	Explicit formulas for the action	14

^{*}Mathematical Institute, Tohoku University, Sendai 980-8578, Japan.

2 0 INTRODUCTION

2	Quantum $ au$ -functions		
	2.1	Definition of quantum τ -functions	17
	2.2	The quantum q -Hirota-Miwa equation	18
	2.3	Definition of regularity of the quantum τ -functions	21
	2.4	Relation to singular vectors in Verma modules	21
	2.5	Proof of regularity in the Kac-Moody case	23
		Proof of regularity in the q -difference case	

0 Introduction

In the previous paper [16], the author canonically quantized the birational Weyl group action arising from a nilpotent Poisson algebra proposed by Noumi and Yamada [25]. But he did not quantize their τ -functions. In this paper, we shall quantize the τ -functions and prove that the quantized τ -functions are polynomials in dependent variables.

Let $[a_{ij}]_{i,j\in I}$ be any symmetrizable generalized Cartan matrix (GCM for short) with positive integers d_i $(i \in I)$ satisfying $d_i a_{ij} = d_j a_{ji}$. Denote by W the Weyl group of the GCM $[a_{ij}]_{i,j\in I}$ generated by the simple reflections s_i $(i \in I)$.

0.1 Classical case

Following Noumi and Yamada [25], we define a nilpotent Poisson algebra to be a Poisson commutative integral domain generated by $\{f_i\}_{i\in I}$ as a Poisson algebra with the following nilpotency property of the Poisson bracket:

$$(\operatorname{ad}_{\{,\}} f_i)^{1-a_{ij}}(f_j) = \underbrace{\{f_i, \{\cdots, \{f_i, \{f_i, f_j\}\}\}\cdots\}\}}_{1-a_{ij} \text{ times}} = 0 \quad (i \neq j),$$

where $(ad_{\{,\}} f)(g) = \{f, g\}$. We call f_i 's the dependent variables.

In Theorem 1.1 of [25], introducing the Poisson central parameter variables α_i^{\vee} $(i \in I)$, they construct the birational Weyl group action by

$$s_{i}(\alpha_{j}^{\vee}) = \alpha_{j}^{\vee} - a_{ij}\alpha_{i}^{\vee}, \quad s_{i}(f_{i}) = f_{i},$$

$$s_{i}(f_{j}) = \exp(\operatorname{ad}_{\{,\}} \alpha_{i}^{\vee} \log f_{i})(f_{j}) = \sum_{k=0}^{-a_{ij}} \frac{(\alpha_{i}^{\vee})^{k}}{k!} (\operatorname{ad}_{\{,\}} f_{i})^{k} (f_{j}) f_{i}^{-1} \quad (i \neq j). \tag{0.1}$$

These formulas shall be canonically quantized by (1.2), (1.5), and (1.6), respectively.

Moreover, in Theorem 1.2 of [25], they introduce Laurent τ -monomials τ^{μ} for integral weights $\mu \in P$ and extend the birational Weyl group action to the τ -monomials by

$$s_i(\tau^{\mu}) = f_i^{\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \lambda \rangle} \tau^{s_i(\mu)} = f_i^{\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \lambda \rangle} \tau^{\mu - \langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle \alpha_i}, \tag{0.2}$$

where α_i^{\vee} 's are identified with the simple coroots, α_i 's are the simple roots, and \langle , \rangle denotes the canonical pairing between the coroot lattice Q^{\vee} and the weight lattice P. This action

0.1 Classical case 3

on the Laurent τ -monomials shall be quantized by (1.4), the appearance of which is same as (0.2).

They deal with the τ -cocycle in [25]. However, for the compatibility with the quantum case, we equivalently introduce the τ -functions $\tau_{(w(\mu))}$ for $w(\mu) \in WP_+$ by

$$\tau_{(w(\mu))} = w(\tau^{\mu}) \quad (w \in W, \mu \in P_+).$$

Note that each $w(\tau^{\mu})$ depends only on $w(\mu)$ because $s_i(\tau^{\mu}) = \tau^{\mu}$ if $\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle = 0$. For any $w(\mu) \in WP_+$, there exists a unique rational function $\phi_w(\mu)$ of f_i 's and α_i^{\vee} 's such that $\tau_{(w(\mu))} = \phi_w(\mu)\tau^{w(\mu)}$, where $\phi_w(\mu)$ is called the τ -cocycle in [25]. Since the quantized version of $\phi_w(\mu)$ does not commute with the quantized τ -monomials in general, we shall deal with the quantized version of $\tau_{(w(\mu))}$ in the quantum case.

In this paper, for the fundamental weights Λ_i , we call $\tau_i = \tau^{\Lambda_i}$ the τ -variables. Although they call only τ_i 's the τ -functions in [25], we call all $\tau_{(w(\mu))}$ ($w \in W$, $\mu \in P_+$) the τ -functions. One should not be confused by the difference of terminologies.

The main result of [25] is the regularity of $\phi_w(\mu)$ for any dominant integral weight $\mu \in P_+$ (Theorem 1.3 of [25]). In other words, they prove that, for any $\mu \in P_+$ and any $w \in W$, the τ -function $\tau_{w(\mu)}$ is a polynomial in f_i 's and α_i^{\vee} 's.

In [32], one of the author of [25] finds the determinant formulas of the τ -functions for the birational Weyl group actions of type $A_{n-1}^{(1)}$ and A_{∞} , and interprets them as Plücker coordinates of the universal Grassmann manifolds in the Sato theory of soliton equations [30]. The determinant formulas immediately lead to the regularity of the τ -functions of type A. In [25], they generalize the Sato theoretic interpretation of the A-type τ -functions to the case for any symmetrizable GCM and show the regularity of the τ -functions for any type.

The regularity of the τ -functions proved by Noumi and Yamada [32], [25] has many corollaries which state polynomiality of certain special rational functions. In particular, polynomialities of rational functions, which give special solutions of the bilinear forms of the Painlevé equations and are generated by the Bäcklund transformations, are corollaries of the regularity of the τ -functions for the birational Weyl group actions.

For example, let $Q_m(x)$ $(m \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0})$ be the rational functions defined by the following recurrence equation:

$$Q_{m-1}Q_{m+1} = Q_m''Q_m - (Q_m')^2 + (x^2 + 2m - 1)Q_m^2, \quad Q_0 = Q_1 = 1.$$
 (0.3)

In [27], using the analysis of the Painlevé equations in [26], Okamoto proves that all $Q_m(x)$ are polynomials in x (Proposition 5.6 of [27]). The polynomials $Q_m(x)$ are called the Okamoto polynomials. The polynomiality of $Q_m(x)$ is a corollary of the regularity of the τ -functions for the birational Weyl group action of type $A_2^{(1)}$ (Theorem 4.3 of [24]). It is non-trivial to show that the right-hand side of the recurrence equation (0.3) is divisible by $Q_{m-1}(x)$. The original proof of Okamoto is not purely algebraic. On the other hand, the regularity of τ -functions for the birational Weyl group action has a purely algebraic proof. For other examples of special polynomials for the Painlevé equations, see also [33] and references therein.

4 0 INTRODUCTION

0.2 Quantization

In this paper, we shall introduce the quantum τ -functions (Section 2.1) and prove their regularity. But the method to prove the regularity is completely different from the one in the classical case of [25]. In order to prove the regularity of the quantum τ -functions, we shall use the translation functors in the representation theory (Section 2.5).

The regularity in the quantized case implies the regularity in the classical case through the classical limit. Therefore we obtain another purely algebraic proof of the regularity of the classical τ -functions. In particular, the polynomiality of the special rational functions for the Painlevé equations generated by the Bäcklund transformations can be derived from the theory of the translation functors for the Kac-Moody algebras. This could be a surprising relationship.

We summarize the implications as below:

```
\exists exact functor T(M) \subset M \otimes L(\mu) with T(M(w \circ \lambda)) = M(w \circ (\lambda + \mu))
```

- \implies regularity of the quantum τ -functions
- \implies regularity of the classical τ -functions
- ⇒ polynomiality of special rational solutions of the Painlevé equations.

Here we denote by $w \circ \lambda$ the shifted action of $w \in W$ on $\lambda \in P_+$, by $M(w \circ \lambda)$ the Verma module with highest weight $w \circ \lambda$, by $L(\mu)$ the simple quotient of $M(\mu)$ for $\mu \in P_+$, and by $T = T_{\lambda}^{\lambda + \mu}$ the translation functor.

The major difficulty of quantizing the τ -functions was the fact that we did not have a natural Poisson algebra which contains the τ -variables τ_i (or the τ -monomials τ^{μ}). Roughly speaking, "canonical quantization" stands for replacement of the Poisson brackets in a Poisson algebra with the commutators in the corresponding non-commutative associative algebra. But we did not have Poisson brackets for the τ -variables. We should find the appropriate commutation relations for the quantum τ -variables under the situation where the Poisson brackets are unknown.

The answer is very simple. The τ -variables τ_i $(i \in I)$ are defined to be the exponentials of the canonical conjugate variables of the parameter variables α_i^{\vee} $(i \in I)$. More precisely, we define τ_i by $\tau_i = \exp(\partial/\partial \alpha_i^{\vee})$ $(i \in I)$. Then we have $\tau_i \tau_j = \tau_j \tau_i$, $\tau_i \alpha_j^{\vee} = (\alpha_j^{\vee} + \delta_{ij}) \tau_i$ $(i, j \in I)$ and $\tau_i f_j = f_j \tau_i$. The quantum τ -variables are difference operators of the parameter variables. More generally we assume that $\tau^{\lambda} \tau^{\mu} = \tau^{\lambda + \mu}$, $\tau^{\mu} \alpha_j^{\vee} = (\alpha_i^{\vee} + \langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle) \tau^{\mu}$, and $\tau^{\mu} f_j = f_j \tau^{\mu}$ for integral weights $\mu, \lambda \in P$.

In the classical case, we assume that $\{\tau^{\lambda}, \tau^{\mu}\} = 0$, $\{\tau^{\mu}, \alpha_{j}^{\vee}\} = \langle \alpha_{i}^{\vee}, \mu \rangle \tau^{\mu}$, and $\{\tau_{i}, f_{j}\} = 0$. Then the formula (0.2) can be derived as follows:

$$s_i(\tau^{\mu}) = \exp(\operatorname{ad}_{\{\cdot\}} \alpha_i^{\vee} \log f_i)(\tau^{s_i(\mu)}) = \exp(\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle \log f_i) \tau^{s_i(\mu)} = f_i^{\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle} \tau^{s_i(\mu)}. \tag{0.4}$$

See also (0.1). Therefore the birational action of s_i is uniformly written in the form $s_i(a) = \exp(\operatorname{ad} \alpha_i^{\vee} \log f_i)(\tilde{s}_i(a))$, where \tilde{s}_i stands for the Weyl group action on the parameter variables (or coroots) and the integral weights which trivially acts on f_i 's.

In the quantum case, we shall construct the quantum birational Weyl group action by $s_i(a) = f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}} \tilde{s}_i(a) f_i^{-\alpha_i^{\vee}}$, where f_i 's are the generators of the associative algebra the fundamen-

0.3 Conventions 5

tal relations of which are the Serre (or q-Serre) relations, and are called the (quantum) dependent variables. (For details, see Section 1.2.) This is an almost straightforward canonical quantization of the classical birational Weyl group action $s_i(a) = \exp(\operatorname{ad} \alpha_i^{\vee} \log f_i)(\tilde{s}_i(a))$.

The fractional powers $f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}}$ shall be constructed in Section 1.5. The parameter variables are identified with the simple coroots also in the quantum case. For $\lambda \in P$ and a function a of the parameter variables α_i^{\vee} $(i \in I)$ which contains the fractional powers of f_i $(i \in I)$, we denote by $\phi_{\lambda}(a)$ the value of a at λ , which is obtained by the substitution of $\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \lambda \rangle$ into α_i^{\vee} . We shall define the fractional powers so that a=0 if and only if $\phi_{\lambda}(a)=0$ for all integral weights $\lambda \in P$. For any rational function a of f_i 's and α_i^{\vee} 's, it is sufficient for a=0 that $\phi_{\lambda+\rho}(a)=0$ for all dominant integral weights $\lambda \in P_+$, where ρ denotes the Weyl vector $\sum_{i\in I} \Lambda_i$. Therefore the calculations of the quantum birational Weyl group action reduces to those of $f_i^{\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \lambda+\rho \rangle} \phi_{\lambda+\rho}(a) f_i^{-\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \lambda+\rho \rangle}$ for dominant integral weights $\lambda \in P_+$.

For the proof of the regularity of the quantum τ -functions, we can assume that f_i 's generate the lower triangular part of $U(\mathfrak{g})$ or $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$, where \mathfrak{g} is the Kac-Moody Lie algebra of type $[a_{ij}]_{i,j\in I}$. Let $M(\lambda)$ be the Verma module over $U(\mathfrak{g})$ or $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ with highest weight $\lambda \in P$. Denote by v_λ a highest weight vector of $M(\lambda)$. Then, for each $\lambda \in P$ with $\langle \alpha_i^\vee, \lambda \rangle \geq 0$, the vector $f_i^{\langle \alpha_i^\vee, \lambda + \rho \rangle} v_\lambda$ is a singular vector with weight $s_i \circ \lambda = s_i(\lambda + \rho) - \rho$. In this way, we can relate the quantum birational Weyl group action with the singular vectors in the Verma modules with dominant integral highest weights. For details, see Section 2.4.

Consequently, we can reduce the regularity of the quantum τ -functions to the divisibility (from the right) of the singular vectors in $M(\lambda + \mu)$ by the corresponding singular vectors in $M(\lambda)$ for any $\lambda, \mu \in P_+$ (Proposition 2.9). The translation functor $T_{\lambda}^{\lambda+\mu}$ for the symmetrizable Kac-Moody algebra \mathfrak{g} makes a connection between the singular vectors in $M(\lambda)$ and those in $M(\lambda + \mu)$ and then proves the divisibility of the singular vectors in the Kac-Moody case (Section 2.5). The equivalence (shown by Etingof and Kazhdan in [6]) between the category \mathcal{O} for \mathfrak{g} and that of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ shows that the divisibility of the singular vectors in the Verma modules over $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ also reduces to the theory of the translation functor for the symmetrizable Kac-Moody algebra (Section 2.6). Thus the regularity of the quantum τ -functions is proved both in the Kac-Moody case and in the q-difference case. This is the main result of this paper.

0.3 Conventions

We adopt the following conventions.

The term "quantization" stands for "canonical quantization", not for "q-difference deformation". For example, "the quantum q-Hirota-Miwa equation" does not mean "the q-difference deformation of the Hirota-Miwa equation" but "the q-difference deformation of the canonically quantized Hirota-Miwa equation". (See Section 2.2 for details.)

We shall deal with both canonical quantizations and their q-difference analogues. For example, for a symmetrizable Kac-Moody Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , the universal enveloping algebra $U(\mathfrak{g})$ can be regarded as the canonical quantization of the symmetric algebra $S(\mathfrak{g})$, and the q-difference deformation of $U(\mathfrak{g})$ is denoted by $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$. We shall construct the quantum τ -functions both for $U(\mathfrak{g})$ and for $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$.

A field is always commutative. A skew field stands for a possibly non-commutative field. An associative algebra over a field shall be always with the unit 1. Denote the set of all non-negative integers by $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$.

Acknowledgements. The author would like to thank Koji Hasegawa for valuable discussions on the topics of this paper. This work was supported by Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research No. 23540003.

1 Quantization of birational Weyl group actions

In this section, we extend the quantized birational Weyl group action on the dependent variables f_i and the parameter variables α_i^{\vee} (Theorem 4.3 of [16]) to the τ -variables τ_i .

1.1 Symmetrizable GCM and Weyl group

Throughout this paper, a matrix $[a_{ij}]_{i,j\in I}$ stands for a symmetrizable generalized Cartan matrix (GCM for short) symmetrized by positive integers $\{d_i\}_{i\in I}$. In other words, we assume that $[a_{ij}]_{i,j\in I}$ is an integer matrix with

$$a_{ii} = 2;$$
 $a_{ij} \leq 0$ if $i \neq j;$ $a_{ij} = 0$ if and only if $a_{ji} = 0;$ $d_i a_{ij} = d_j a_{ji}$.

Let Q^{\vee} be a free \mathbb{Z} -module and set $P = \operatorname{Hom}(Q^{\vee}, \mathbb{Z})$. Denote by $\langle \ , \ \rangle : Q^{\vee} \times P \to \mathbb{Z}$ the canonical pairing. Assume that $\alpha_i^{\vee} \in Q^{\vee}$ and $\alpha_i \in P \ (i \in I)$ satisfy the following conditions: (1) $\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \alpha_j \rangle = a_{ij} \ (i, j \in I)$; (2) $\{\alpha_i^{\vee}\}_{i \in I}$ is linearly independent over \mathbb{Z} ; (3) $\alpha_i \neq \alpha_j$ if $i \neq j$. We call Q^{\vee} the coroot lattice, P the weight lattice, α_i^{\vee} 's the simple coroots, and α_i 's the simple roots. We set $P_+ = \{\lambda \in P \mid \langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \lambda \rangle \geq 0 \ (i \in I)\}$, $Q = \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbb{Z} \alpha_i$, and $Q_+ = \bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0} \alpha_i$. We call an element of P_+ a dominant integral weight and Q the root lattice. Assume that weights $\Lambda_j \in P_+ \ (j \in I)$ satisfy $\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \Lambda_j \rangle = \delta_{ij} \ (i, j \in I)$. We call Λ_j 's the fundamental weights. The Weyl vector ρ is defined by $\rho = \sum_{i \in I} \Lambda_i$.

Let W be the Weyl group of the GCM $[a_{ij}]_{i,j\in I}$, namely W is defined to be the group generated by $\{s_i\}_{i\in I}$ with following fundamental relations: $s_is_j = s_js_i$ if $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (0, 0)$; $s_is_js_i = s_js_is_j$ if $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -1)$; $(s_is_j)^2 = (s_js_i)^2$ if $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -2)$; $(s_is_j)^3 = (s_js_i)^3$ if $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -3)$; $s_i^2 = 1$. The Weyl group W acts on Q^{\vee} and P by

$$s_i(\beta) = \beta - \langle \beta, \alpha_i \rangle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \quad s_i(\lambda) = \lambda - \langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \lambda \rangle \alpha_i.$$

In particular, we have $s_i(\alpha_j^{\vee}) = \alpha_j^{\vee} - a_{ji}\alpha_i^{\vee}$ and $s_i(\Lambda_j) = \Lambda_j - \delta_{ij}\alpha_i$. The Weyl group action preserves the canonical pairing \langle , \rangle between Q^{\vee} and P:

$$\langle w(\beta), w(\lambda) \rangle = \langle \beta, \lambda \rangle \text{ for } \beta \in Q^{\vee}, \lambda \in P, w \in W.$$

1.2 Quantum algebras of dependent variables

Let \mathfrak{h} be the vector space over \mathbb{C} isomorphic to $Q_{\mathbb{C}}^{\vee} = Q^{\vee} \otimes \mathbb{C}$. Denote by h_i (resp. h_{β}) the element of \mathfrak{h} corresponding to $\alpha_i^{\vee} \otimes 1 \in Q_{\mathbb{C}}^{\vee}$ (resp. $\beta \in Q_{\mathbb{C}}^{\vee}$). Note that we shall not identify h_{β} with $\beta \in Q_{\mathbb{C}}^{\vee}$.

Let \mathfrak{g} be the Kac-Moody Lie algebra of type $[a_{ij}]_{i,j\in I}$ over \mathbb{C} , namely \mathfrak{g} is defined to be the Lie algebra over \mathbb{C} generated by $\{e_i, f_i, h \mid i \in I, h \in \mathfrak{h}\}$ with fundamental relations:

$$[h_{\beta}, h_{\gamma}] = 0, \quad h_{\beta} + h_{\gamma} = h_{\beta+\gamma} \quad (\beta, \gamma \in Q_{\mathbb{C}}^{\vee}),$$

$$[h_{\beta}, e_{j}] = \langle \beta, \alpha_{j} \rangle e_{j}, \quad [h_{\beta}, f_{j}] = -\langle \beta, \alpha_{j} \rangle f_{j} \quad (\beta \in Q_{\mathbb{C}}^{\vee}), \quad [e_{i}, f_{j}] = \delta_{ij} h_{i},$$

$$\sum_{k=0}^{1-a_{ij}} (-1)^{k} e_{i}^{(1-a_{ij}-k)} e_{j} e_{i}^{(k)} = 0, \quad \sum_{k=0}^{1-a_{ij}} (-1)^{k} f_{i}^{(1-a_{ij}-k)} f_{j} f_{i}^{(k)} = 0 \quad \text{if } i \neq j,$$

where $e_i^{(k)} = e_i/k!$ and $f_i^{(k)} = f_i/k!$. The last two relations are called the Serre relations. Let \mathfrak{n}_- (resp. \mathfrak{n}_+) be the Lie subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} generated by $\{f_i\}_{i\in I}$ (resp. by $\{e_i\}_{i\in I}$). Denote by $U(\mathfrak{a})$ the universal enveloping algebra of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{a} .

Note that Q^{\vee} is not regarded as a subset of \mathfrak{h} . We shall assume that elements of Q^{\vee} commute with f_i 's.

In order to deal with q-difference analogues, we introduce the q-numbers, q-factorials, and the q-binomial coefficients by

$$[a]_q = \frac{q^a - q^{-a}}{q - q^{-1}}, \qquad [k]_q! = [1]_q [2]_q \cdots [k]_q,$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} a \\ k \end{bmatrix}_q = \frac{[a]_q [a - 1]_q [a - 2]_q \cdots [a - k + 1]_q}{[k]_q!} \quad (k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}).$$

Put $q_i = q^{d_i}$ for $i \in I$.

Let $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ be the q-difference analogue of $U(\mathfrak{g})$, namely $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ is defined to be the associative algebra over $\mathbb{C}(q)$ generated by $\{e_i, f_i, q^\beta \mid i \in I, \beta \in Q^\vee\}$ with fundamental relations:

$$\begin{split} q^{\beta}q^{\gamma} &= q^{\beta+\gamma}, \quad q^{0} = 1 \quad (\beta, \gamma, 0 \in Q^{\vee}), \\ q^{\beta}e_{j}q^{-\beta} &= q^{\langle \beta, \alpha_{j} \rangle}e_{j}, \quad q^{\beta}f_{j}q^{-\beta} = q^{-\langle \beta, \alpha_{j} \rangle}f_{j} \quad (\beta \in Q^{\vee}), \quad [e_{i}, f_{j}] = \delta_{ij}[h_{i}]_{q_{i}}, \\ \sum_{k=0}^{1-a_{ij}} (-1)^{k}e_{i}^{(1-a_{ij}-k)}e_{j}e_{i}^{(k)} &= 0, \quad \sum_{k=0}^{1-a_{ij}} (-1)^{k}f_{i}^{(1-a_{ij}-k)}f_{j}f_{i}^{(k)} &= 0 \quad \text{if } i \neq j, \end{split}$$

where $e_i^{(k)} = e_i/[k]_{q_i}!$ and $f_i^{(k)} = f_i/[k]_{q_i}!$. The last two relations are called the q-Serre relations. Let $U_q(\mathfrak{n}_-)$ (resp. $U_q(\mathfrak{n}_+)$) be the subalgebra of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ generated by $\{f_i\}_{i\in I}$ (resp. $\{e_i\}_{i\in I}$).

The case where we deal with the Kac-Moody Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} (resp. the q-difference deformation $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ of $U(\mathfrak{g})$) shall be called the Kac-Moody case (resp. the q-difference case).

In the Kac-Moody (resp. q-difference) case, let A be a residue class algebra of $U(\mathfrak{n}_-)$ (resp. $U_q(\mathfrak{n}_-)$) and assume that A is an integral domain, namely an associative algebra without non-zero zero divisors. Denote the images of f_i 's in A by the same symbols. We also assume that $f_i \neq 0$ in A for all $i \in I$. We call f_i 's the dependent variables. We shall construct the quantum birational Weyl group action on certain extensions of A.

We denote by Q(R) the skew field of fractions of an Ore domain R. Any element of Q(R) can be expressed as as^{-1} and $t^{-1}b$ for some $a, b, s, t \in A$ with $s \neq 0$ and $t \neq 0$. We

denote by $F(x_1, ..., x_n)$ the skew field of fractions of the polynomial ring $F[x_1, ..., x_n]$ over a skew field F.

If the GCM is of finite or affine type, then A is always an Ore domain (Theorem 2.12 of [16]). When A is an Ore domain, we denote Q(A) by K.

Remark 1.1. We refer [31], [11], [18], [7], Section 3.6 of [3], and Section 2 of [16] for the theory of localization of non-commutative rings.

A Noetherian domain is always an Ore domain (2.1.15 of [18], Corollary 6.7 of [7]). The universal enveloping algebra of a finite dimensional Lie algebra is a Noetherian domain and hence an Ore domain. The q-difference deformation $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ of $U(\mathfrak{g})$ and its lower triangular part $U_q(\mathfrak{n}_-)$ are always integral domains (Section 7.3 of [13]). If the GCM is of finite type, then $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ and $U_q(\mathfrak{n}_-)$ are Noetherian (Section 7.4 of [13]) and hence Ore domains.

Let R be an associative algebra over a field with a increasing filtration $R = \bigcup_{k=0}^{\infty} R_k$ such that each R_k is a finite dimensional subspace of R and $1 \in R_0$. We call R the tempered domain if R is an integral domain and the convergence radius of $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \dim(R_k) z^k$ is not less than 1. A tempered domain is always an Ore domain (Lemma 2.9 of [16], Lemma 1.2 of [29]). This result is very useful for proving that a given algebra is an Ore domain. In particular, it follows that, if the GCM is of finite or affine type, then $U(\mathfrak{g})$, $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$, and their all subquotient domains are Ore domains (Theorem 2.12 of [16]).

Consider the polynomial ring $R = F[x_1, ..., x_n]$ over a skew field F and assume that m = 0, 1, 2, ..., n and $c_1, ..., c_m$ are central elements of F. Then, applying Theorem 2.1 of [31] to R, we obtain that $S = \{ f \in R \mid f(c_1, ..., c_m, x_{m+1}, ..., x_n) \neq 0 \}$ is an Ore set in R.

Example 1.2. Assume that $\varepsilon_{ij} \in \{0, \pm 1\}$, $\varepsilon_{ji} = -\varepsilon_{ij}$, and $\varepsilon_{ij} \neq 0$ if and only if $a_{ij} \neq 0$ and $i \neq j$. Set $c_{ij} = \varepsilon_{ij}d_ia_{ij}$ for $i, j \in I$. If A is the associative algebra over \mathbb{C} generated by $\{f_i\}_{i\in I}$ with fundamental relations $[f_i, f_j] = c_{ij}$ $(i, j \in I)$, then A is a quotient Ore domain of $U(\mathfrak{n}_-)$. If A is the associative algebra over $\mathbb{C}(q)$ generated by $\{f_i\}_{i\in I}$ with fundamental relations $f_j f_i = q^{c_{ij}} f_i f_j$ $(i, j \in I)$, then A is a quotient Ore domain of $U_q(\mathfrak{n}_-)$. In the both cases, we have the skew field K = Q(A) of fractions of A.

If R is an associative algebra and S is an Ore set in R, then we have the localization $R[S^{-1}]$ of R with respect to S. For any $c \in R[S^{-1}]$, there exist some $a, b \in R$ and $s, t \in S$ such that $c = as^{-1} = t^{-1}b$.

The multiplicative subset of A generated by $\{f_i\}_{i\in I}$ is an Ore set in A owing to the Serre and q-Serre relations. Therefore we have the localization $\widetilde{A} = A[f_i^{-1}|i\in I]$ of A with respect to it.

We have $A \subset \widetilde{A}$ in any case and $\widetilde{A} \subset K = Q(A)$ in the case where A is an Ore domain.

Example 1.3. Assume that the GCM is of type A_2 : $I = \{1, 2\}$, $a_{ii} = 2$, $a_{12} = a_{21} = -1$, $d_i = 1$. Then the Weyl algebra $A = \mathbb{C}[x, \partial]$, where $\partial = d/dx$, can be regarded as a quotient Ore domain of $U(\mathfrak{n}_-)$. The surjective algebra homomorphism from $U(\mathfrak{n}_-)$ onto $A = \mathbb{C}[x, \partial]$ is given by $f_1 \mapsto x$ and $f_2 \mapsto \partial$. Then the multiplicative subset of $A = \mathbb{C}[x, \partial]$ generated by x and x is an Ore set in x in x and x is an Ore set in x in x and x is an Ore set in x in x

 $f \in \mathbb{C}[x]$, we have

$$\partial^{-1} f = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-1)^k f^{(k)} \partial^{-k-1} = f \partial^{-1} - f' \partial^{-2} + f'' \partial^{-3} - \dots \quad \text{in } \widetilde{A} = \mathbb{C}[x^{\pm 1}, \partial^{\pm 1}].$$

The right-hand side reduces to a finite sum.

Example 1.4. The Weyl algebra $A = \mathbb{C}[x, \partial], \ \partial = d/dx$, can be regarded as a quotient Ore domains of $U(\mathfrak{n}_-)$ of various affine types:

$$D_{4}^{(1)}: \quad f_{2} = \partial, \quad f_{i} = x - a_{i} \quad (a_{i} \in \mathbb{C}, i = 0, 1, 3, 4),$$

$$B_{3}^{(1)}: \quad f_{1} = \partial, \quad f_{2} = x, \quad f_{3} = x - a, \quad f_{0} = (x - b)^{2} \quad (a, b \in \mathbb{C}),$$

$$A_{3}^{(1)}: \quad f_{1} = \partial, \quad f_{2} = x, \quad f_{3} = x - a, \quad f_{0} = \partial - b \quad (a, b \in \mathbb{C}),$$

$$G_{2}^{(1)}: \quad f_{1} = \partial, \quad f_{2} = x, \quad f_{0} = (x - a)^{3} \quad (a \in \mathbb{C}),$$

$$A_{2}^{(1)}: \quad f_{1} = \partial, \quad f_{2} = x, \quad f_{0} = \partial + x,$$

$$D_{5}^{(2)}: \quad f_{1} = \partial, \quad f_{2} = x^{2}, \quad f_{0} = (x - a)^{2} \quad (a \in \mathbb{C}),$$

$$C_{2}^{(1)}: \quad f_{1} = \partial, \quad f_{2} = x^{2}, \quad f_{0} = \partial - a \quad (a \in \mathbb{C}),$$

$$A_{2}^{(2)}: \quad f_{1} = \partial, \quad f_{0} = x^{4},$$

$$A_{1}^{(1)}: \quad f_{1} = \partial, \quad f_{0} = \partial + x^{2}.$$

The GCM's of type $D_4^{(1)}$, $A_3^{(1)}$, and $A_2^{(1)}$ are simply-laced, those of $C_2^{(1)}$ and $A_1^{(1)}$ are symmetric, and those of $B_3^{(1)}$, $G_2^{(1)}$, $D_5^{(2)}$, and $A_2^{(2)}$ are not symmetric but foldings of $D_4^{(1)}$. For example, in the case of $G_2^{(1)}$, from $f_1 = \partial$, $f_2 = x$, and $f_0 = (x - a)^3$, it follows that

For example, in the case of $G_2^{(1)}$, from $f_1 = \partial$, $f_2 = x$, and $f_0 = (x - a)^3$, it follows that $[f_1, [f_1, f_2]] = 0$, $[f_2, [f_2, f_1]] = 0$, $[f_1, [f_1, [f_1, f_0]]] = 0$, $[f_0, [f_0, f_1]] = 0$, and $[f_2, f_0] = 0$. These are the Serre relations of type $G_2^{(1)}$.

Recall that the Painlevé equations P_{VI} , P_{V} , P_{IV} , P_{III} , and P_{II} have the birational Weyl group symmetries of type $D_4^{(1)}$, $A_3^{(1)}$, $A_2^{(1)}$, $C_2^{(1)}$, and $A_1^{(1)}$, respectively. By Proposition 5.13 of [34], we have the following isomorphisms of the affine Weyl groups:

$$W(B_3^{(1)}) \cong W(A_3^{(1)}) \rtimes \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}, \quad W(G_2^{(1)}) \cong W(A_2^{(1)}) \rtimes \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z},$$

 $W(D_5^{(2)}) \cong W(C_2^{(2)}) \rtimes \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}, \quad W(A_2^{(2)}) \cong W(A_1^{(1)}) \rtimes \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}.$

In fact, the above list is related to the canonical quantization of the Painlevé equations. For the construction of the quantum Painlevé equations, see [12], [22], [20], and [21]. The Weyl group symmetry of the quantum Painlevé equations are naturally interpreted from the perspective of the quantum birational Weyl group actions defined in this paper or in [16].

1.3 Quantum algebras with parameter variables

In the Kac-Moody case, we consider the polynomial rings $A^{pa} = A[\beta | \beta \in Q^{\vee}]$ and $\widetilde{A}^{pa} = \widetilde{A}[\beta | \beta \in Q^{\vee}]$ generated by any free basis of the coroot lattice Q^{\vee} over A and \widetilde{A} respectively,

where $\beta \in Q^{\vee}$'s are central in them:

$$\beta f_j = f_j \beta, \quad \beta \gamma = \gamma \beta \quad (\beta, \gamma \in Q^{\vee}).$$

We naturally regard the coroot lattice Q^{\vee} as a subset of A^{pa} and $\widetilde{A}^{\text{pa}}$. We call $\beta \in Q^{\vee}$ the parameter variables.

In the q-difference case, we consider the Laurent polynomial rings $A^{\mathrm{pa}} = A[q^{\beta}|\beta \in Q^{\vee}]$ and $\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}} = \widetilde{A}[q^{\beta}|\beta \in Q^{\vee}]$ spanned by $\{q^{\beta}\}_{\beta \in Q^{\vee}}$ over A and \widetilde{A} respectively, where q^{β} 's are central in them:

$$q^{\beta}f_j = f_j q^{\beta}, \quad q^{\beta}q^{\gamma} = q^{\beta+\gamma} \quad (\gamma, \beta \in Q^{\vee}).$$

We call q^{β} 's the parameter variables.

In the both cases, if A is an Ore domain, then A^{pa} is also an Ore domain. We denote $Q(A^{\mathrm{pa}})$ by K^{pa} shortly, namely, $K^{\mathrm{pa}} = K(\beta | \beta \in Q^{\vee})$ in the Kac-Moody case and $K^{\mathrm{pa}} = K(q^{\beta} | \beta \in Q^{\vee})$ in the q-difference case. We have $K^{\mathrm{pa}} = Q(\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}})$.

We call A^{pa} , $\widetilde{A}^{\text{pa}}$, and K^{pa} the quantum algebras with parameter variables. Also in the following, the symbol "() pa" stands for "with parameter variables".

In the Kac-Moody (resp. q-difference) case, for each $\lambda \in P$, we define the algebra homomorphism $\phi_{\lambda} : \widetilde{A}^{pa} \to \widetilde{A}$ by

$$\phi_{\lambda}(a) = a, \quad \phi_{\lambda}(\beta) = \langle \beta, \lambda \rangle \quad (\text{resp. } \phi_{\lambda}(q^{\beta}) = q^{\langle \beta, \lambda \rangle}) \quad (a \in \widetilde{A}, \beta \in Q^{\vee}).$$

This homomorphism ϕ_{λ} substitutes $\langle \beta, \lambda \rangle$ into $\beta \in Q^{\vee}$. Thus we obtain the injective algebra homomorphism $\phi : \widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}} \to \widetilde{A}^{P}$ by $\phi(a) = (\phi_{\lambda}(a))_{\lambda \in P}$ $(a \in \widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}})$ and identify $\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}$ with its image in \widetilde{A}^{P} . Since $\phi(A^{\mathrm{pa}}) \subset A^{P}$, we obtain the injective algebra homomorphism $\phi : A^{\mathrm{pa}} \to A^{P}$ and identify A^{pa} with its image in A^{P} .

In this paragraph, we assume that A is an Ore domain. For each $\lambda \in P$, define the multiplicative subset S_{λ} of A^{pa} by $S_{\lambda} = \{a \in A^{\mathrm{pa}} \mid \phi_{\lambda}(a) \neq 0\}$. Then S_{λ} is an Ore set in A^{pa} . (See the last paragraph of Remark 1.1.) Thus we obtain the subalgebra $A^{\mathrm{pa}}[S_{\lambda}^{-1}]$ of K^{pa} and $\phi_{\lambda}: A^{\mathrm{pa}} \to A$ is uniquely extended to the algebra homomorphism $\phi_{\lambda}: \widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}[S_{\lambda}^{-1}] \to K$. Any element of $\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}[S_{\lambda}^{-1}]$ can be expressed as as^{-1} by some $a, s \in A^{\mathrm{pa}}$ with $\phi_{\lambda}(s) \neq 0$ and $\phi_{\lambda}(as^{-1}) = \phi_{\lambda}(a)\phi_{\lambda}(s)^{-1}$. Let $A^{\mathrm{pa}}_{(P)}$ be the intersection of $A^{\mathrm{pa}}[S_{\lambda}^{-1}]$ for all $\lambda \in P$. Then $\phi_{\lambda}: A^{\mathrm{pa}} \to A$ is uniquely extended to the algebra homomorphism $\phi_{\lambda}: A^{\mathrm{pa}}_{(P)} \to K$. Thus we obtain the injective algebra homomorphism $\phi: A^{\mathrm{pa}}_{(P)} \to K^P$ by $\phi(a) = (\phi_{\lambda}(a))_{\lambda \in P}$ $(a \in A^{\mathrm{pa}}_{(P)})$ and identify $A^{\mathrm{pa}}_{(P)}$ with its image in K^P .

We have $A^{\mathrm{pa}} \subset \widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}} \subset \widetilde{A}^P$ in any case and $\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}} \subset A^{\mathrm{pa}}_{(P)} \subset K^P$ in the case where A is an Ore domain.

1.4 Quantum difference operator algebras and τ -variables

In this subsection, we shall introduce difference operators acting on the parameter variables and call them τ -variables.

In the Kac-Moody case, for each $\mu \in P$, let τ^{μ} be the difference operator acting on quantum algebras with parameter variables given by

$$\tau^{\mu}(f_i) = f_i, \quad \tau^{\mu}(\beta) = \beta + \langle \beta, \mu \rangle \quad (i \in I, \beta \in Q^{\vee}).$$

Thus we obtain the difference operator algebras $D(A^{pa}) = A^{pa}[\tau^{\mu}|\mu \in P], D(\widetilde{A}^{pa}) = \widetilde{A}^{pa}[\tau^{\mu}|\mu \in P], D(K^{pa}) = K^{pa}[\tau^{\mu}|\mu \in P].$ In these algebras, we have

$$\tau^{\lambda}\tau^{\mu} = \tau^{\lambda+\mu}, \quad \tau^{\mu}f_i = f_i\tau^{\mu}, \quad \tau^{\mu}\beta = (\beta + \langle \beta, \mu \rangle)\tau^{\mu} \quad (\lambda, \mu \in P, \beta \in Q^{\vee}).$$

In the q-difference case, for each $\mu \in P$, let τ^{μ} be the q-difference operator acting on quantum algebras with parameter variables given by

$$\tau^{\mu}(f_i) = f_i, \quad \tau^{\mu}(q^{\beta}) = q^{\beta + \langle \beta, \mu \rangle} \quad (i \in I, \beta \in Q^{\vee}).$$

Thus we obtain the q-difference operator algebras $D(A^{pa})$, $D(\widetilde{A}^{pa})$, $D(K^{pa})$, similarly as in the Kac-Moody case. In these algebras we have

$$\tau^{\lambda}\tau^{\mu} = \tau^{\lambda+\mu}, \quad \tau^{\mu}f_i = f_i\tau^{\mu}, \quad \tau^{\mu}q^{\beta} = q^{\beta+\langle\beta,\mu\rangle}\tau^{\mu} \quad (\lambda,\mu\in P,\beta\in Q^{\vee}).$$

Note that $D(K^{pa})$ is defined only in the case where A is an Ore domain.

For any algebra R and any $\mu \in P$, the algebra automorphism τ^{μ} of R^{P} is defined by the translation $\tau^{\mu}((a_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in P}) = (a_{\lambda+\mu})_{\lambda \in P}$ $((a_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in P} \in R^{P})$. Thus we obtain the extended algebra $D(R^{P}) = R^{P}[\tau^{\mu}|\mu \in P]$.

The injective algebra homomorphism $\phi: \widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}} \to \widetilde{A}^P$ commutes with τ^{μ} for any $\mu \in P$. Therefore ϕ is naturally extended to the injective algebra homomorphism $\phi: D(\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}) \to D(\widetilde{A}^P)$. We identify $D(\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}})$ with its image in $D(\widetilde{A}^P)$.

Similarly, when A is an Ore domain, $\phi: A_{(P)}^{\text{pa}} \to K$ is naturally extended to the injective algebra homomorphism $\phi: D(A_{(P)}^{\text{pa}}) \to D(K^P)$. We identify $D(\widetilde{A}_{(P)}^{\text{pa}})$ with its image in $D(K^P)$.

We have $D(A^{\text{pa}}) \subset D(\widetilde{A}^{\text{pa}}) \subset D(\widetilde{A}^P)$ in any case and $D(\widetilde{A}^{\text{pa}}) \subset D(A_{(P)}^{\text{pa}}) \subset D(K^P)$ in the case where A is an Ore domain. These algebras are called the quantum difference operator algebras.

We call τ^{μ} 's the quantum Laurent τ -monomials. We define the quantum τ -variables τ_i $(i \in I)$ by $\tau_i = \tau^{\Lambda_i}$.

1.5 Quantum algebras with fractional powers

For each $\beta \in Q^{\vee}$, we define the fractional power f_i^{β} by $f_i^{\beta} = (f_i^{\langle \beta, \lambda \rangle})_{\lambda \in P} \in \widetilde{A}^P$. Let \mathcal{A} be the subalgebra of \widetilde{A}^P generated by $\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}} = \phi(\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}})$ and the fractional powers f_i^{β} ($\beta \in Q^{\vee}$), and $D(\mathcal{A})$ the subalgebra of $D(\widetilde{A}^P)$ generated by $D(\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}) = \phi(D(\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}))$ and the fractional powers f_i^{β} ($\beta \in Q^{\vee}$):

$$\mathcal{A} = \widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}[f_i^{\beta}|\beta \in Q^{\vee}], \quad D(\mathcal{A}) = \mathcal{A}[\tau^{\mu}|\mu \in P].$$

These algebras are called the quantum algebra with fractional powers and the quantum difference operator algebra with fractional powers, respectively. In D(A), we have

$$\tau^{\mu} f_i^{\beta} = f_i^{\beta + \langle \beta, \mu \rangle} \tau^{\mu} \quad (\mu \in P, \beta \in Q^{\vee}, i \in I).$$

For $\lambda \in P$, let $\phi_{\lambda} : \mathcal{A} \to \widetilde{A}$ be the restriction on \mathcal{A} of the canonical projection from \widetilde{A}^P onto its λ -factor. Then we have $\phi_{\lambda}(f_i^{\beta}) = f_i^{\langle \beta, \lambda \rangle}$.

Similarly, when A is an Ore domain, we can construct the algebras

$$\mathcal{A}_{(P)} = A_{(P)}^{\text{pa}}[f_i^{\beta} | \beta \in Q^{\vee}], \quad D(\mathcal{A}_{(P)}) = \mathcal{A}_{(P)}[\tau^{\mu} | \mu \in P]$$

as subalgebras of K^P and $D(K^P)$, respectively. For $\lambda \in P$, let $\phi_{\lambda} : \mathcal{A}_{(P)} \to K$ be the restriction on $\mathcal{A}_{(P)}$ of the canonical projection from K^P onto its λ -factor.

1.6 Tilde action of the Weyl group

For any algebra R and any $w \in W$, the algebra automorphism \widetilde{w} of $D(R^P)$ is given by

$$\widetilde{w}((a_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in P}) = (a_{w^{-1}(\lambda)})_{\lambda \in P}, \quad \widetilde{w}(\tau^{\mu}) = \tau^{w(\mu)} \quad ((a_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in P} \in R^{P}, \mu \in P).$$

This is called *the tilde action* of the Weyl group.

In the case of $R = \widetilde{A}$, the tilde action of $w \in W$ on $D(\widetilde{A}^P)$ preserves D(A) and its action on D(A) is characterized by

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{w}(f_i^{\pm 1}) &= f_i^{\pm 1} \quad (i \in I), \\ \widetilde{w}(\beta) &= w(\beta) \quad (\beta \in Q^\vee) \quad \text{in the Kac-Moody case,} \\ \widetilde{w}(q^\beta) &= q^{w(\beta)} \quad (\beta \in Q^\vee) \quad \text{in the q-difference case,} \\ \widetilde{w}(f_i^\beta) &= f_i^{w(\beta)} \quad (i \in I, \beta \in Q^\vee), \\ \widetilde{w}(\tau^\mu) &= \tau^{w(\mu)} \quad (\mu \in P). \end{split}$$

Similarly, when A is an Ore domain, the tilde action on $D(K^P)$ preserves $D(\mathcal{A}_{(P)})$.

1.7 Quantum birational Weyl group action

We are ready to construct the quantization of the birational Weyl group action arising from a nilpotent Poisson algebra proposed by Noumi and Yamada [25].

Lemma 1.5 (Verma identities). In D(A), for any $\beta, \gamma \in Q^{\vee}$, we have

- If $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (0, 0)$, then $f_i^{\beta} f_j^{\gamma} = f_j^{\gamma} f_i^{\beta}$.
- If $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -1)$, then $f_i^{\beta} f_i^{\beta + \gamma} f_i^{\gamma} = f_i^{\gamma} f_i^{\beta + \gamma} f_i^{\beta}$.
- If $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -2)$, then $f_i^{\beta} f_j^{2\beta + \gamma} f_i^{\beta + \gamma} f_j^{\gamma} = f_j^{\gamma} f_i^{\beta + \gamma} f_j^{2\beta + \gamma} f_i^{\beta}$.
- If $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -3)$, then $f_i^{\beta} f_i^{3\beta+\gamma} f_i^{2\beta+\gamma} f_i^{3\beta+2\gamma} f_i^{\beta+\gamma} f_j^{\gamma} = f_j^{\gamma} f_i^{\beta+\gamma} f_j^{3\beta+2\gamma} f_i^{2\beta+\gamma} f_j^{3\beta+\gamma} f_i^{\beta}.$

Proof. It is sufficient to show that the identities obtained by substituting (m, n) to (β, γ) in the above identities hold for all integers m, n. But it reduces to the cases where m, n are non-negative. The proof of the non-negative cases is found in Proposition 39.3.7 of [17].

Remark 1.6. The Verma identities (Proposition 39.3.7 of [17]) can be regarded as a corollary of the uniqueness (up to scalar multiples) of homomorphisms between Verma modules. See 4.4.16 of [13].

Example 1.7. Under the setting of Example 1.3 and $Q^{\vee} = \mathbb{Z}\alpha_1^{\vee} \oplus \mathbb{Z}\alpha_2^{\vee}$, the following formula holds in $\mathcal{A}^{\mathrm{pa}} = \mathbb{C}[x, \partial, \alpha_i^{\vee}, x^{\pm \alpha_i^{\vee}}, \partial^{\pm \alpha_i^{\vee}}] = 1, 2$:

$$x^a \partial^{a+b} x^b = \partial^b x^{a+b} \partial^a, \tag{1.1}$$

where $a = \beta$, $b = \gamma$, and $\beta, \gamma \in Q^{\vee}$. Although this is a special case of Lemma 1.5, we shall show the direct proof to help understanding the proof of Lemma 1.5. It is sufficient to prove that the formula (1.1) holds for any $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$. Using the Leibnitz formula

$$\partial^n f = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} f^{(k)} \partial^{n-k}$$
 in $\mathbb{C}[x, \partial]$ $(f \in \mathbb{C}[x], n \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}),$

we can show that for any $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, the both-hand sides of (1.1) are equal to

$$\sum_{k=0}^{b} k! \binom{a+b}{k} \binom{b}{k} x^{a+b-k} \partial^{a+b-k}.$$

The formula (1.1) for $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ has been proved. Replacing (a, b) with (a + b, -b), we find that the formula (1.1) for $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ is equivalent to the one for $a \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $b \in \mathbb{Z}_{\leq 0}$ with $a + b \geq 0$. Replacing (a, b) with (-a - b, a), we find that the formula (1.1) for $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ is equivalent to the one for $a \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ and $b \in \mathbb{Z}_{\leq 0}$ with $a + b \leq 0$. We can similarly obtain the other cases and prove the formula (1.1) for any $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$.

The fractional power ∂^{β} of $\partial = d/dx$ is related to the fractional calculus and the Kats middle convolution. See [28], [21], and references therein.

Remark 1.8. For $c=q^{\beta}$ ($\beta\in Q^{\vee}$), define \mathbf{e}_{i}^{c} by $\mathbf{e}_{i}^{c}(a)=f_{i}^{\beta}af_{i}^{-\beta}$. Then Lemma 1.5 immediately leads to the Verma identities of \mathbf{e}_{i}^{c} ($i\in i$): for $c=q^{\beta}$ and $d=q^{\gamma}$,

- If $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (0, 0)$, then $\mathbf{e}_i^c \mathbf{e}_j^d = \mathbf{e}_j^d \mathbf{e}_i^c$.
- If $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -1)$, then $\mathbf{e}_i^c \mathbf{e}_j^{cd} \mathbf{e}_i^d = \mathbf{e}_j^c \mathbf{e}_i^{cd} \mathbf{e}_j^c$.
- If $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -2)$, then $\mathbf{e}_i^c \mathbf{e}_j^{c^2 d} \mathbf{e}_i^{c d} \mathbf{e}_j^d = \mathbf{e}_j^d \mathbf{e}_i^{c d} \mathbf{e}_j^{c^2 d} \mathbf{e}_i^c$.
- If $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -3)$, then $\mathbf{e}_i^c \mathbf{e}_j^{c^3 d} \mathbf{e}_i^{c^2 d^2} \mathbf{e}_j^{c^3 d^2} \mathbf{e}_i^{cd} \mathbf{e}_j^d = \mathbf{e}_j^c \mathbf{e}_i^{cd} \mathbf{e}_j^{c^3 d^2} \mathbf{e}_i^{c^2 d} \mathbf{e}_j^c$.

These identities mean that $\{\mathbf{e}_i^c\}_{i\in I}$ can be regarded as a quantum version of geometric crystal defined by Berenstein and Kazhdan [1].

For any associative algebra R and an invertible element $a \in R^{\times}$, the inner algebra automorphism Ad(a) of R is defined by

$$Ad(a)(x) = axa^{-1}$$
 for $x \in R$.

Then the multiplicative group R^{\times} acts on R via Ad.

Definition 1.9. For each $i \in I$, the algebra automorphisms \mathbf{s}_i of $D(\mathcal{A})$ (and of $D(\mathcal{A}_{(P)})$ when A is an Ore domain) by $\mathbf{s}_i = \operatorname{Ad}(f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}})\tilde{s}_i$.

Lemma 1.10. The set $\{\mathbf{s}_i\}_{i\in I}$ of algebra automorphisms of $D(\mathcal{A})$ (and of $D(\mathcal{A}_{(P)})$ when A is an Ore domain) satisfies the fundamental relations of the Weyl group: $\mathbf{s}_i\mathbf{s}_j = \mathbf{s}_j\mathbf{s}_i$ if $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (0, 0)$; $\mathbf{s}_i\mathbf{s}_j\mathbf{s}_i = \mathbf{s}_j\mathbf{s}_i\mathbf{s}_j$ if $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -1)$; $(\mathbf{s}_i\mathbf{s}_j)^2 = (\mathbf{s}_j\mathbf{s}_i)^2$ if $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -2)$; $(\mathbf{s}_i\mathbf{s}_j)^3 = (\mathbf{s}_j\mathbf{s}_i)^3$ if $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -3)$; $\mathbf{s}_i^2 = 1$.

Proof. The relation $\mathbf{s}_i^2 = 1$ follows from $\tilde{s}_i(f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}}) = f_i^{-\alpha_i^{\vee}}$:

$$\mathbf{s}_i^2 = \operatorname{Ad}(f_i^{\alpha_i^\vee}) \tilde{s}_i \operatorname{Ad}(f_i^{\alpha_i^\vee}) \tilde{s}_i = \operatorname{Ad}(f_i^{\alpha_i^\vee}) \operatorname{Ad}(f_i^{-\alpha_i^\vee}) \tilde{s}_i \tilde{s}_i = \operatorname{Ad}(f_i^{\alpha_i^\vee} f_i^{-\alpha_i^\vee}) \tilde{s}_i^2 = 1.$$

The other fundamental relations are no more than rewrites of the Verma identities (Lemma 1.5). For example, in the case of $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -1)$, the relation $\mathbf{s}_i \mathbf{s}_j \mathbf{s}_i = \mathbf{s}_j \mathbf{s}_i \mathbf{s}_j$ is proved as below. Using the formula $\widetilde{w}(f_k^{\beta}) = f_k^{w(\beta)}$ ($w \in W, k \in I, \beta \in Q^{\vee}$), we obtain

$$\mathbf{s}_{i}\mathbf{s}_{j}\mathbf{s}_{i} = \operatorname{Ad}(f_{i}^{\alpha_{i}^{\vee}}f_{j}^{\alpha_{i}^{\vee}+\alpha_{j}^{\vee}}f_{i}^{\alpha_{j}^{\vee}})\tilde{s}_{i}\tilde{s}_{j}\tilde{s}_{i}, \quad \mathbf{s}_{j}\mathbf{s}_{i}\mathbf{s}_{j} = \operatorname{Ad}(f_{j}^{\alpha_{j}^{\vee}}f_{i}^{\alpha_{i}^{\vee}+\alpha_{j}^{\vee}}f_{j}^{\alpha_{i}^{\vee}})\tilde{s}_{j}\tilde{s}_{i}\tilde{s}_{j}.$$

Therefore the relation $\mathbf{s}_i \mathbf{s}_j \mathbf{s}_i = \mathbf{s}_j \mathbf{s}_i \mathbf{s}_j$ follows from the Verma identity for $(a_{ij}, a_{ji}) = (-1, -1)$. The other relations are proved by the same argument.

This lemma immediately leads to the following theorem.

Theorem 1.11. The mapping $s_i \mapsto \mathbf{s}_i$ $(i \in I)$ induces the Weyl group actions on $D(\mathcal{A})$ (and on $D(\mathcal{A}_{(P)})$ when A is an Ore domain).

This theorem can be regarded as a both q-difference and canonically quantized version of Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.2 of [25].

Definition 1.12. We call the Weyl group actions obtained in Theorem 1.11 the quantum birational Weyl group actions and denote by w(x) the quantum birational action of $w \in W$ on x.

Remark 1.13. In [8], using the quantum dilogarithm, Hasegawa quantizes certain birational Weyl group actions of q-difference type proposed by Kajiwara, Noumi, and Yamada [15]. Although the quantum birational Weyl group actions of Hasegawa are different from ours, they can be also reconstructed by the method of fractional powers (Section 5 of [16]). The quantum τ -functions for the Hasegawa actions are not discovered at the present time.

1.8 Explicit formulas for the action

The following formulas immediately follow from the definition of \mathbf{s}_i and the quantum birational Weyl group action (Definition 1.12):

$$s_i(\beta) = \beta - \langle \beta, \alpha_i \rangle \alpha_i^{\vee} \quad (\beta \in Q^{\vee}) \quad \text{in the Kac-Moody case,}$$
 (1.2)

$$s_i(q^{\beta}) = q^{s_i(\beta)} = q^{\beta - \langle \beta, \alpha_i \rangle \alpha_i^{\vee}} \quad (\beta \in Q^{\vee}) \quad \text{in the } q\text{-difference case,}$$
 (1.3)

$$s_i(\tau^{\mu}) = f_i^{\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle} \tau^{s_i(\mu)} = f_i^{\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle} \tau^{\mu - \langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle \alpha_i} \quad (\mu \in P), \tag{1.4}$$

$$s_i(f_i) = f_i. (1.5)$$

The second last formula follows from $\tau^{\mu} f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}} = f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee} + \langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle} \tau^{\mu}$ and $\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, s_i(\mu) \rangle = -\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle$:

$$s_i(\tau^{\mu}) = f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}} \tau^{s_i(\mu)} f_i^{-\alpha_i^{\vee}} = f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}} f_i^{-\alpha_i^{\vee} + \langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle} \tau^{s_i(\mu)} = f_i^{\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \mu \rangle} \tau^{s_i(\mu)}.$$

In particular, we have $s_i(\tau_i) = f_i \tau^{\Lambda_i - \alpha_i}$ and $s_i(\tau_j) = \tau_j$ $(i \neq j)...$

Remark 1.14. Since $f_j = s_j(\tau_j)\tau^{-\Lambda_j+\alpha_j}$, we have

$$s_i(f_j) = s_i s_j(\tau_j) s_i(\tau^{-\Lambda_j + \alpha_j}) \quad (i, j \in I).$$

This means that the quantum birational Weyl group action on the dependent variables f_i ($i \in i$) is described by the action on the quantum Laurent τ -monomials τ^{μ} ($\mu \in P$). This observation is one of the motivation of introducing the quantum τ -functions. For the definition of them, see Section 2.1.

We shall write down the explicit formulas of $s_i(f_i)$ for $i \neq j$ as follows.

In the Kac-Moody case, we define the commutator [A, B] by [A, B] = AB - BA and ad $f: U(\mathfrak{g}) \to U(\mathfrak{g})$ for $f \in \mathfrak{g}$ by

$$(ad f)(a) = fa - af \quad (a \in U(\mathfrak{g})).$$

Then the Serre relations are rewritten in the form $(\operatorname{ad} f_i)^{1-a_{ij}}(f_j) = 0$ $(i \neq j)$. More generally, we have

$$(\operatorname{ad} f)^k(a) = \sum_{s=0}^k (-1)^s \binom{k}{s} f^{k-s} a f^s \quad (k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}).$$

By induction on |n|, we can obtain

$$f_i^n f_j f_i^{-n} = \sum_{k=0}^{-a_{ij}} \binom{n}{k} (\text{ad } f_i)^k (f_j) f_i^{-k} \quad (i \neq j, n \in \mathbb{Z}).$$

It immediately follows that

$$f_i^{\beta} f_j f_i^{-\beta} = \sum_{k=0}^{-a_{ij}} {\beta \choose k} (\operatorname{ad} f_i)^k (f_j) f_i^{-k} \in \widetilde{A}^{\operatorname{pa}} \quad (i \neq j, \beta \in Q^{\vee}).$$

In particular, we have

$$s_i(f_j) = f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}} f_j f_i^{-\alpha_i^{\vee}} = \sum_{k=0}^{-a_{ij}} {\alpha_i^{\vee} \choose k} (\operatorname{ad} f_i)^k (f_j) f_i^{-k} \in \widetilde{A}^{\operatorname{pa}} \quad (i \neq j).$$
 (1.6)

This result is a canonically quantized version of the formula (1.9) of [25] specialized by $\psi = \varphi_j$.

In the q-difference case, we define the q-commutator $[A,B]_q$ by $[A,B]_q=AB-qBA$ and ad $f_i:U_q(\mathfrak{g})\to U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ by

$$(\operatorname{ad} f_i)(a) = f_i a - q_i^{-h_i} a q_i^{h_i} f_i \quad (a \in U_q(\mathfrak{g})).$$

Then the q-Serre relations are also rewritten in the form $(\operatorname{ad} f_i)^{1-a_{ij}}(f_j) = 0 \ (i \neq j)$. More generally, we have

$$(\operatorname{ad} f_{i})^{k}(f_{j}) = [f_{i}, [\cdots, [f_{i}, [f_{i}, f_{j}]_{q_{i}^{a_{ij}}}]_{q_{i}^{a_{ij}+2}} \cdots]_{q_{i}^{a_{ij}+2(k-2)}}]_{q_{i}^{a_{ij}+2(k-1)}}$$
$$= \sum_{s=0}^{k} (-1)^{s} q_{i}^{s(s+a_{ij}-1)} \begin{bmatrix} k \\ s \end{bmatrix}_{q_{i}} f_{i}^{k-s} f_{j} f_{i}^{s} \quad (k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}).$$

By induction on |n|, we can obtain

$$f_i^n f_j f_i^{-n} = \sum_{k=0}^{-a_{ij}} q_i^{(k+a_{ij})(n-k)} {n \brack k}_{q_i} (\text{ad } f_i)^k (f_j) f_i^{-k} \quad (i \neq j, n \in \mathbb{Z}).$$

For the derivation of this formula, see also Chapter 7 of [17]. It immediately follows that

$$s_{i}(f_{j}) = f_{i}^{\beta} f_{j} f_{i}^{-\beta} = \sum_{k=0}^{-a_{ij}} q_{i}^{(k+a_{ij})(\beta-k)} \begin{bmatrix} \beta \\ k \end{bmatrix}_{q_{i}} (\operatorname{ad} f_{i})^{k} (f_{j}) f_{i}^{-k} \in \widetilde{A}^{\operatorname{pa}} \quad (i \neq j, \beta \in Q^{\vee}).$$

In particular, we have

$$s_i(f_j) = f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}} f_j f_i^{-\alpha_i^{\vee}} = \sum_{k=0}^{-a_{ij}} q_i^{(k+a_{ij})(\alpha_i^{\vee}-k)} \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_i^{\vee} \\ k \end{bmatrix}_{q_i} (\operatorname{ad} f_i)^k (f_j) f_i^{-k} \in \widetilde{A}^{\operatorname{pa}} \quad (i \neq j). \tag{1.7}$$

This result is a both q-difference and canonically quantized version of the formula (1.9) of [25] specialized by $\psi = \varphi_i$.

Thus we obtain the following lemma.

Lemma 1.15. For any $\beta \in Q^{\vee}$ and $i, j \in I$, we have $f_i^{\beta} f_j f_i^{-\beta} \in \widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}$. More precisely, $f_i^{\beta} f_j f_i^{-\beta}$ belongs to the subalgebra of $\widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}$ generated by $\{f_i^{\pm 1}, f_j, \beta\}$ in the Kac-Moody case and by $\{f_i^{\pm 1}, f_j, q_i^{\pm \beta}\}$ in the q-difference case. In particular, we have $s_i(f_j) \in \widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}$.

Example 1.16. Suppose that $a_{ij} = -1$ and $d_i = 1$. In the Kac-Moody case, we have

$$s_i(f_j) = f_j + \alpha_i^{\vee}[f_i, f_j]f_i^{-1} = (1 - \alpha_i^{\vee})f_j + \alpha_i^{\vee}f_if_jf_i^{-1}.$$

In the q-difference case, we have

$$s_i(f_j) = q^{-\alpha_i^{\vee}} f_j + [\alpha_i^{\vee}]_q [f_i, f_j]_{q^{-1}} f_i^{-1} = [1 - \alpha_i^{\vee}]_q f_j + [\alpha_i^{\vee}]_q f_i f_j f_i^{-1}.$$

This formula shall be used in Example 2.1.

Remark 1.17. Suppose that A is an Ore domain. It follows from Lemma 1.15 that the quantum birational Weyl group action preserves $D(A_{(P)}^{pa})$ and $A_{(P)}^{pa}$. Therefore W acts on them. This result is an extended version of Theorem 4.3 of [16]. Since the algebra $D(A_{(P)}^{pa})$ does not contain the fractional powers f_i^{β} , the quantum birational Weyl group action on $D(A_{(P)}^{pa})$ is characterized by the explicit formulas written down in this subsection.

Example 1.18. Under the setting of Example 1.7, we have

$$s_1(x) = x, \quad s_1(\partial) = x^{\alpha_1^{\vee}} \partial x^{-\alpha_1^{\vee}} = \partial - \frac{\alpha_1^{\vee}}{x},$$

$$s_2(x) = \partial^{\alpha_2^{\vee}} x \partial^{-\alpha_2^{\vee}} = x + \alpha_2^{\vee} \partial^{-1}, \quad s_2(\partial) = \partial,$$

$$s_i(\alpha_i^{\vee}) = -\alpha_i^{\vee}, \quad s_1(\alpha_2^{\vee}) = s_2(\alpha_1^{\vee}) = \alpha_1^{\vee} + \alpha_2^{\vee}.$$

These formulas define the action of $W = S_3 = \langle s_1, s_2 \rangle$ on $A_{(P)}^{\text{pa}} = \mathbb{C}[x, \partial, \alpha_1^{\vee}, \alpha_2^{\vee}]_{(P)}$. A non-commutative rational function $a \in \mathbb{C}(x, \partial, \alpha_1^{\vee}, \alpha_2^{\vee})$ is an element of $\mathbb{C}[x, \partial, \alpha_1^{\vee}, \alpha_2^{\vee}]_{(P)}$ if and only if, for any $\lambda \in P$, there exist some $b, s \in \mathbb{C}[x, \partial, \alpha_1^{\vee}, \alpha_2^{\vee}]$ such that $a = bs^{-1}$ and s does not vanish even if $\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \lambda \rangle$'s are substituted into α_i^{\vee} 's.

2 Quantum τ -functions

2.1 Definition of quantum τ -functions

The Tits cone is defined to be $WP_+ = \{ w(\mu) \mid w \in W, \mu \in P_+ \} \subset P$. For each $\nu \in WP_+$, we define the quantum τ -function $\tau_{(\nu)}$ by

$$\tau_{(\nu)} = w(\tau^{\mu}), \quad \nu = w(\mu), \quad w \in W, \quad \mu \in P_{+}.$$

Note that $w(\tau^{\mu})$ depends only on $\nu = w(\mu)$ owing to the property $s_i(\tau_j) = \tau_j$ $(i \neq j)$ of the quantum birational Weyl group action.

Example 2.1. In the q-difference case, if $i \neq j$, then we have

$$\tau_{(\Lambda_j)} = \tau_j, \quad \tau_{(s_j(\Lambda_j))} = s_j(\tau_j) = f_j \tau^{s_j(\Lambda_j)},$$

$$\tau_{(s_i s_j(\Lambda_j))} = s_i s_j(\tau_j) = f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}} f_j \tau^{s_i s_j(\Lambda_j)} f_i^{-\alpha_i^{\vee}} = f_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}} f_j f_i^{-\alpha_i^{\vee} - a_{ij}} \tau^{s_i s_j(\Lambda_i)}$$

$$= \left(\sum_{k=0}^{-a_{ij}} q_i^{(k+a_{ij})(\alpha_i^{\vee} - k)} \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_i^{\vee} \\ k \end{bmatrix}_{q_i} (\text{ad } f_i)^k (f_j) f_i^{-a_{ij} - k} \right) \tau^{s_i s_j(\Lambda_i)}.$$

Note that the quantum τ -function $\tau_{(s_is_j(\Lambda_j))}$ is a polynomial in f_i, f_j and a Laurent polynomial in $q_i^{\alpha_i^{\vee}}$. In particular, when $a_{ij} = -1$ and $d_i = 1$, we have

$$\tau_{(s_i s_j(\Lambda_j))} = s_i s_j(\tau_j) = \left(q^{-\alpha_i^{\vee}} f_j f_i + [\alpha_j^{\vee}]_q [f_i, f_j]_{q^{-1}} \right) \tau^{s_j s_i(\Lambda_i)}$$
$$= \left([1 - \alpha_i^{\vee}]_q f_j f_i + [\alpha_i^{\vee}]_q f_i f_j \right) \tau^{s_j s_i(\Lambda_i)}.$$

The last expression shall be used for the proof of the quantum q-Hirota-Miwa equation in Section 2.2.

Example 2.2. Assume that the GCM is of type A_3 : $I = \{1, 2, 3\}$, $a_{ii} = 2$, $a_{i,i+1} = a_{i+1,i} = -1$ (i = 1, 2), $a_{ij} = 0$ $(|i - j| \ge 2)$, $d_i = 1$. Let A be the associative algebra over \mathbb{C} generated by f_1, f_2, f_3 with fundamental relations $[f_1, f_2] = [f_2, f_3] = 1$, $[f_1, f_3] = 0$.

We set $(i_1, i_2, ..., i_6) = (1, 2, 3, 1, 2, 1)$, $w_k = s_{i_k} \cdots s_{i_2} s_{i_1} \in W$, and $\beta_k := w_{k-1}^{-1}(\alpha_{i_k}^{\vee}) = s_{i_1} \cdots s_{i_{k-1}}(\alpha_{i_k}^{\vee})$ (k = 1, 2, ..., 6). We have $\beta_1 = \alpha_1^{\vee}$, $\beta_2 = \alpha_1^{\vee} + \alpha_2^{\vee}$, $\beta_3 = \alpha_1^{\vee} + \alpha_2^{\vee} + \alpha_3^{\vee}$, $\beta_4 = \alpha_2^{\vee}$, $\beta_5 = \alpha_2^{\vee} + \alpha_3^{\vee}$, and $\beta_6 = \alpha_3^{\vee}$.

Then the quantum τ -functions $\tau_{(w_k(\Lambda_1))}$ (k = 1, 2, ..., 6) can be written in the form $\tau_{(w_k(\Lambda_1))} = \widetilde{w}_k(X_k)\tau^{w_k(\Lambda_1)}$, where X_k (k = 1, 2, ..., 6) are calculated as follows:

$$X_{1} = f_{1}^{-\beta_{1}} f_{1}^{\beta_{1}+1} = f_{1},$$

$$X_{2} = f_{2}^{-\beta_{2}} X_{1} f_{2}^{\beta_{2}+1} = \left(f_{1} + \frac{\beta_{2}}{f_{2}}\right) f_{2} = f_{1} f_{2} + \beta_{2},$$

$$X_{3} = f_{3}^{-\beta_{3}} X_{2} f_{3}^{\beta_{3}+1} = \left(f_{1} \left(f_{2} + \frac{\beta_{3}}{f_{3}}\right) + \beta_{2}\right) f_{3} = f_{1} f_{2} f_{3} + \beta_{3} f_{1} + \beta_{2} f_{3},$$

$$X_{4} = f_{1}^{-\beta_{4}} X_{3} f_{1}^{\beta_{4}} = f_{1} \left(f_{2} - \frac{\beta_{4}}{f_{1}}\right) f_{3} + \beta_{3} f_{1} + \beta_{2} f_{3} = f_{1} f_{2} f_{3} + \beta_{3} f_{1} + (\beta_{2} - \beta_{4}) f_{3},$$

$$X_{5} = f_{2}^{-\beta_{5}} X_{4} f_{2}^{\beta_{5}} = \left(f_{1} + \frac{\beta_{5}}{f_{2}}\right) f_{2} \left(f_{3} - \frac{\beta_{5}}{f_{2}}\right) + \beta_{3} \left(f_{1} + \frac{\beta_{5}}{f_{2}}\right) + (\beta_{2} - \beta_{4}) \left(f_{3} - \frac{\beta_{5}}{f_{2}}\right)$$

$$= f_{1} f_{2} f_{3} + (\beta_{3} - \beta_{5}) f_{1} + (\beta_{2} - \beta_{4} + \beta_{5}) f_{3} + \left(-\beta_{2} + \beta_{4} - \beta_{5} + \beta_{3}\right) \frac{\beta_{5}}{f_{2}},$$

$$= f_{1} f_{2} f_{3} + (\beta_{3} - \beta_{5}) f_{1} + (\beta_{2} - \beta_{4} + \beta_{5}) f_{3},$$

$$X_{6} = f_{1} f_{2} f_{3} + \beta_{6} f_{1} + (\beta_{3} - \beta_{6}) f_{3}.$$

Thus the all quantum τ -functions $\tau_{(w_k(\Lambda_1))}$ (k = 1, 2, ..., 6) are polynomials in f_i and α_i^{\vee} $(i \in I)$.

2.2 The quantum q-Hirota-Miwa equation

In this subsection, as a supporting evidence for the correctness of the definition of the quantum τ -functions in the previous subsection, we shall show that the quantum τ -functions of type $A_{n-1}^{(1)}$ satisfy the quantum q-Hirota-Miwa equation (2.1) in the q-difference case.

Assume that $n \geq 3$ and the GCM $[a_{ij}]_{i,j\in I}$ is of type $A_{n-1}^{(1)}$: $I = \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$, $a_{ii} = 2$, $a_{i,i\pm 1} = -1$, $a_{ij} = 0$ $(j \neq i, i\pm 1)$, and $d_i = 1$. Denote the image of $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ in $I = \mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z}$ by \overline{k} . Assume that the algebra automorphism of A can be defined by $f_i \mapsto f_{i+1}$ for $i \in I$.

We define the coroot lattice Q^{\vee} to be the free \mathbb{Z} -module generated by δ^{\vee} and ε_k^{\vee} $(k=1,2,\ldots,n)$. We set ε_k^{\vee} $(k\in\mathbb{Z})$ by the quasi-periodicity $\varepsilon_{k+n}^{\vee}=\varepsilon_k^{\vee}-\delta^{\vee}$. Define the simple coroots by $\alpha_k^{\vee}=\varepsilon_k^{\vee}-\varepsilon_{k+1}^{\vee}$ $(k\in\mathbb{Z})$. Then we have $\alpha_{k+n}^{\vee}=\alpha_k^{\vee}$ and put $\alpha_{\overline{k}}^{\vee}=\alpha_k^{\vee}$. Since $\alpha_0^{\vee}=\delta^{\vee}+\varepsilon_n^{\vee}-\varepsilon_1^{\vee}$, the set $\{\alpha_k^{\vee}\}_{k=0}^{n-1}$ is linearly independent over \mathbb{Z} and $\sum_{k=0}^{n-1}\alpha_k^{\vee}=\delta^{\vee}$.

The weight lattice P is given by $P = \operatorname{Hom}(Q^{\vee}, \mathbb{Z})$. Denote by Λ_0 , ε_k (k = 1, 2, ..., n) the dual basis of δ^{\vee} , ε_k^{\vee} (k = 1, 2, ..., n). We set ε_k $(k \in \mathbb{Z})$ by the periodicity $\varepsilon_{k+n} = \varepsilon_k$. We define ϖ_k $(k \in \mathbb{Z})$ by $\varpi_k = \varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2 + \cdots + \varepsilon_k$ $(k \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0})$ and the quasi-periodicity $\varpi_{k+n} = \varpi_k + \varpi_n$. Then Λ_0 and ϖ_k (k = 1, 2, ..., n) span the weight lattice P. We define Λ_k $(k \in \mathbb{Z})$ by $\Lambda_k = \Lambda_0 + \varpi_k$. Then $\Lambda_{k+n} = \Lambda_k + \varpi_n$. Since $\langle \alpha_k^{\vee}, \varpi_n \rangle = 0$ $(k \in \mathbb{Z})$, we have $\langle \alpha_k^{\vee}, \Lambda_l \rangle = \delta_{\overline{k},\overline{l}}$.

We define the simple roots α_k $(k \in \mathbb{Z})$ by $\alpha_k = -\Lambda_{k-1} + 2\Lambda_k - \Lambda_{k+1} = \varepsilon_k - \varepsilon_{k+1}$. Then we have $\alpha_{k+n} = \alpha_k$ and $\langle \alpha_k^{\vee}, \alpha_l \rangle = a_{\overline{k},\overline{l}}$. Put $\alpha_{\overline{k}} = \alpha_k$. In this setting, we have $\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \alpha_k = 0$.

Set $s_k = s_{\overline{k}}$ and $f_k = f_{\overline{k}}$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. The Weyl group actions on Q^{\vee} and P are characterized by the following formulas:

$$\begin{split} s_k(\delta^\vee) &= \delta^\vee, \quad s_k(\varepsilon_k^\vee) = \varepsilon_{k+1}^\vee, \quad s_k(\varepsilon_{k+1}^\vee) = \varepsilon_k^\vee, \quad s_k(\varepsilon_l^\vee) = \varepsilon_l^\vee \quad (\overline{l} \neq \overline{k}, \overline{k+1}), \\ s_0(\Lambda_0) &= \Lambda_{-1} - \Lambda_0 + \Lambda_1 = \Lambda_0 - \varepsilon_n + \varepsilon_1, \quad s_k(\Lambda_0) = \Lambda_0 \quad (\overline{k} \neq \overline{0}), \\ s_k(\varepsilon_k) &= \varepsilon_{k+1}, \quad s_k(\varepsilon_{k+1}) = \varepsilon_k, \quad s_k(\varepsilon_l) = \varepsilon_l \quad (\overline{l} \neq \overline{k}, \overline{k+1}). \end{split}$$

We define the τ -variables τ_k $(k \in \mathbb{Z})$ by $\tau_k = \tau^{\Lambda_k}$. Then $\tau_{k+n} = \tau_k \tau^{\varpi_n}$. Note that τ^{ϖ_n} commutes with all $q^{\alpha_k^{\vee}}$.

Lemma 2.3. For any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have

$$[\alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q \tau_k \, s_k s_{k+1}(\tau_{k+1}) + [\alpha_k^{\vee}]_q s_{k+1} s_k(\tau_k) \, \tau_{k+1} = [\alpha_k^{\vee} + \alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q s_k(\tau_k) \, s_{k+1}(\tau_{k+1}).$$

Proof. The definition of the quantum birational Weyl group action immediately leads to the following formulas:

$$\begin{split} s_k(\tau_k) &= f_k \frac{\tau_{k-1}\tau_{k+1}}{\tau_k}, \quad s_{k+1}(\tau_{k+1}) = f_{k+1} \frac{\tau_k\tau_{k+2}}{\tau_{k+1}}, \\ s_k s_{k+1}(\tau_{k+1}) &= ([1-\alpha_k^\vee]_q f_{k+1} f_k + [\alpha_k^\vee]_q f_k f_{k+1}) \frac{\tau_{k-1}\tau_{k+2}}{\tau_k}, \\ s_{k+1} s_k(\tau_k) &= \left([1-\alpha_{k+1}^\vee]_q f_k f_{k+1} + [\alpha_{k+1}^\vee]_q f_{k+1} f_k\right) \frac{\tau_{k-1}\tau_{k+2}}{\tau_{k+1}}. \end{split}$$

See Example 2.1. Using $\tau_k q^{\alpha_k^{\vee}} = q^{\alpha_k^{\vee}+1} \tau_k$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} & [\alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q \tau_k s_k s_{k+1}(\tau_{k+1}) = [\alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q \left([-\alpha_k^{\vee}]_q f_{k+1} f_k + [\alpha_k^{\vee} + 1]_q f_k f_{k+1} \right) \tau_{k-1} \tau_{k+2} \\ & [\alpha_k^{\vee}]_q s_{k+1} s_k(\tau_k) \tau_{k+1} = [\alpha_k^{\vee}]_q \left([1 - \alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q f_k f_{k+1} + [\alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q f_{k+1} f_k \right) \tau_{k-1} \tau_{k+2}. \end{split}$$

Add the right-hand sides of the two formulas. Then the $f_{k+1}f_k$ -terms cancel out and we get

$$[\alpha_k^{\vee} + \alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q f_k f_{k+1} \tau_{k-1} \tau_{k+2} = [\alpha_k^{\vee} + \alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q s_k(\tau_k) s_{k+1}(\tau_{k+1}).$$

The lemma has been proved.

Remark 2.4. In the quantum case, we must be careful to non-commutativity. In the above lemma, we have the following commutativity and non-commutativity:

- 1. Although τ_k and $s_k s_{k+1}(\tau_{k+1})$ does not commute, each of them commutes with $[\alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q$.
- 2. Although $s_{k+1}s_k(\tau_k)$ and τ_{k+1} does not commute, each of them commutes with $[\alpha_k^{\vee}]_q$.
- 3. $s_k(\tau_k)$ and $s_{k+1}(\tau_{k+1})$ commutes. Although each of them does not commutes with $[\alpha_k^{\vee} + \alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q$, their product $s_k(\tau_k)s_{k+1}(\tau_{k+1})$ commutes with $[\alpha_k^{\vee} + \alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}]_q$.

The extended Weyl group \widetilde{W} is defined by the semi-direct product $\widetilde{W} = W \rtimes \langle \pi \rangle$ with defining relations $\pi s_k = s_{k+1}\pi$ $(k \in \mathbb{Z})$. The actions of π on Q^{\vee} and P are given by $\pi(\delta^{\vee}) = \delta^{\vee}$, $\pi(\varepsilon_k^{\vee}) = \varepsilon_{k+1}^{\vee}$, $\pi(\Lambda_0) = \Lambda_1 = \Lambda_0 + \varepsilon_1$, and $\pi(\varepsilon_k) = \varepsilon_{k+1}$. These formulas define the extended Weyl group action on Q^{\vee} and P which preserves the canonical pairing between them. Then we have $\pi(\alpha_k^{\vee}) = \alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}$, $\pi(\varpi_k) = \varpi_{k+1} - \varepsilon_1$, and $\pi(\Lambda_k) = \Lambda_{k+1}$.

We define the actions of π on f_k and τ_k by $\pi(f_k) = f_{k+1}$ and $\pi(\tau_k) = \tau_{k+1}$. Then we have $\pi(\tau^{\mu}) = \tau^{\pi(\mu)}$ $(\mu \in P)$.

We define $T_k \in \widetilde{W}$ $(i \in \mathbb{Z})$ by $T_k = s_{k-1} \cdots s_2 s_1 \pi s_{n-1} s_{n-2} \cdots s_k$ (k = 1, 2, ..., n) and the periodicity $T_{k+n} = T_k$. Then T_k $(k \in \mathbb{Z})$ mutually commute and we have

$$\begin{split} s_k T_k s_k^{-1} &= T_{k+1}, \quad s_k T_{k+1} s_k^{-1} = T_k, \quad s_k T_l s_k^{-1} = T_l \quad (\bar{l} \neq \overline{k}, \overline{k+1}), \quad \pi T_k \pi^{-1} = T_{k+1}, \\ T_k(\delta^\vee) &= \delta^\vee, \quad T_k(\varepsilon_l^\vee) = \varepsilon_l^\vee - \delta_{\overline{k},\overline{l}} \delta^\vee, \quad T_k(\varepsilon_l) = \varepsilon_l, \quad T_k(\Lambda_0) = \Lambda_0 + \varepsilon_k. \end{split}$$

For $m = \sum_{k=1}^n m_k \varepsilon_k \in L = \bigoplus_{k=1}^n \mathbb{Z}\varepsilon_k$, we put $T^m = \prod_{k=1}^n T_k^{m_k}$. Then we have $T^m(\Lambda_k) = \Lambda_k + m$.

We define $\varepsilon_k^{\vee}(m)$, $\alpha_k^{\vee}(m)$, and $\tau_k(m)$ for $m \in L$ by

$$\varepsilon_k^{\vee}(m) = T^m(\varepsilon_k^{\vee}) = \varepsilon_k^{\vee} - m_k \delta^{\vee}, \quad \alpha_k^{\vee}(m) = T^m(\alpha_k^{\vee}) = \alpha_k^{\vee} + (m_{k+1} - m_k) \delta^{\vee},$$

$$\tau_k(m) = T^m(\tau_k) = \tau_{(\Lambda_k + m)}.$$

Here we assume that $m_{k+n} = m_k$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Then we have

$$\begin{split} &\Lambda_k = \Lambda_{k-1} + \varepsilon_k, & \Lambda_{k+1} = \Lambda_{k-1} + \varepsilon_k + \varepsilon_{k+1}, \\ &s_k(\Lambda_k) = \Lambda_{k-1} + \varepsilon_{k+1}, & s_{k+1}s_k(\Lambda_{k+1}) = \Lambda_{k-1} + \varepsilon_{k+2}, \\ &s_{k+1}(\Lambda_{k+1}) = \Lambda_{k-1} + \varepsilon_k + \varepsilon_{k+2}, & s_ks_{k+1}(\Lambda_{k+1}) = \Lambda_{k-1} + \varepsilon_{k+1} + \varepsilon_{k+2}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, applying T^m to the both-hand sides of the formula in Lemma 2.3, we obtain

$$\begin{split} [\alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}(m)]_q \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_k) \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_{k+1} + \varepsilon_{k+2}) \\ + [\alpha_k^{\vee}(m)]_q \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_{k+2}) \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_k + \varepsilon_{k+1}) \\ = [\alpha_k^{\vee}(m) + \alpha_{k+1}^{\vee}(m)]_q \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_{k+1}) \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_k + \varepsilon_{k+2}). \end{split}$$

This equation is rewritten in the following cyclically symmetric form:

$$[\varepsilon_{k+1}^{\vee}(m) - \varepsilon_{k+2}^{\vee}(m)]_q \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_k) \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_{k+1} + \varepsilon_{k+2})$$

$$+ [\varepsilon_k^{\vee}(m) - \varepsilon_k^{\vee}(m)]_q \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_{k+2}) \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_k + \varepsilon_{k+1})$$

$$+ [\varepsilon_{k+2}^{\vee}(m) - \varepsilon_k^{\vee}(m)]_q \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_{k+1}) \tau_{k-1}(m + \varepsilon_k + \varepsilon_{k+2}) = 0.$$

$$(2.1)$$

We call this equation the quantum q-Hirota-Miwa equation. The original (non-quantum) Hirota-Miwa equation is found in Equation (2.1) of [10] and in Equation (2.6) of [19]. Although the method for the above derivation is same as the one in Section 4.5 of [23], we must be careful to the non-commutativity mentioned in Remark 2.4.

2.3 Definition of regularity of the quantum τ -functions

Definition 2.5. For each $\nu \in WP_+$, the quantum τ -function $\tau_{(\nu)}$ is said to be regular if $\tau_{(\nu)} \in A^{\mathrm{pa}}$, namely, if $\tau_{(\nu)}$ is a polynomial in $\{f_i, \alpha_i^{\vee}\}_{i \in I}$ for the Kac-Moody case, and if $\tau_{(\nu)}$ is a polynomial in $\{f_i, q^{\pm \alpha_i^{\vee}}\}_{i \in I}$ for the q-difference case.

As mentioned in the introduction, the regularity of the classical τ -functions is shown by Noumi and Yamada in [25]. The rest of this paper is devoted to the proof of the regularity of the quantum τ -functions.

It is sufficient for the proof of the regularity of the quantum τ -functions for any A to obtain the regularity for $A=U(\mathfrak{n}_-)$ in the Kac-Moody case and for $A=U_q(\mathfrak{n}_-)$ in the q-difference case. Therefore, in the following subsections, we set $A=U_-=U(\mathfrak{n}_-)$, $A^{\mathrm{pa}}=U_-^{\mathrm{pa}}=U_-[\beta|\beta\in Q^\vee],\ \widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}=\widetilde{U}_-^{\mathrm{pa}}=U_-[f_i^{-1},\beta|i\in I,\beta\in Q^\vee],\ U=U(\mathfrak{g})$ in the Kac-Moody case, and $A=U_-=U_q(\mathfrak{n}_-),\ A^{\mathrm{pa}}=U_-^{\mathrm{pa}}=U_-[q^\beta|\beta\in Q^\vee],\ \widetilde{A}^{\mathrm{pa}}=\widetilde{U}_-^{\mathrm{pa}}=U_-[f_i^{-1},q^\beta|i\in I,\beta\in Q^\vee],\ U=U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ in the q-difference case. Moreover we assume that $\{\alpha_i\}_{i\in I}$ is also linearly independent over \mathbb{Z} .

2.4 Relation to singular vectors in Verma modules

In the following we fix $\mu \in P_+$ and assume that $w_n = s_{i_n} \cdots s_{i_2} s_{i_1}$ is a reduced expressions of $w_n \in W$ for each $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$. We set $\beta_n = w_{n-1}^{-1}(\alpha_{i_n}^{\vee}) = s_{i_1} s_{i_2} \cdots s_{i_{n-1}}(\alpha_{i_n}^{\vee})$ for $n = 1, 2, \ldots, N$.

By the definition of the quantum birational Weyl group action (Definition 1.12), for n = 0, 1, ..., N, we have

$$\widetilde{w}_{n}^{-1}\tau_{(w_{n}(\mu))} = \widetilde{w}_{n}^{-1} \operatorname{Ad}(f_{i_{n}}^{\alpha_{i_{n}}^{\vee}}) \widetilde{s}_{i_{n}} \cdots \operatorname{Ad}(f_{i_{2}}^{\alpha_{i_{2}}^{\vee}}) \widetilde{s}_{i_{2}} \operatorname{Ad}(f_{i_{1}}^{\alpha_{i_{1}}^{\vee}}) \widetilde{s}_{i_{i}}(\tau^{\mu})$$

$$= \operatorname{Ad}(f_{i_{n}}^{-\beta_{n}}) \cdots \operatorname{Ad}(f_{i_{2}}^{-\beta_{2}}) \operatorname{Ad}(f_{i_{1}}^{-\beta_{1}})(\tau^{\mu})$$

$$= f_{i_{n}}^{-\beta_{n}} \cdots f_{i_{2}}^{-\beta_{2}} f_{i_{1}}^{-\beta_{1}} \tau^{\mu} f_{i_{1}}^{\beta_{1}} f_{i_{2}}^{\beta_{2}} \cdots f_{i_{n}}^{\beta_{n}}$$

$$= f_{i_{n}}^{-\beta_{n}} \cdots f_{i_{2}}^{-\beta_{2}} f_{i_{1}}^{-\beta_{1}} f_{i_{1}}^{\beta_{1} + \langle \beta_{1}, \mu \rangle} f_{i_{2}}^{\beta_{2} + \langle \beta_{2}, \mu \rangle} \cdots f_{i_{n}}^{\beta_{n} + \langle \beta_{n}, \mu \rangle} \tau^{\mu}.$$

Thus we obtain

$$\widetilde{w}_n^{-1} \tau_{(w_n(\mu))} = \Phi_n^{-1} \Psi_n \tau^{\mu},$$

where Φ_n and Ψ_n are given by

$$\Phi_n = f_{i_1}^{\beta_1} f_{i_2}^{\beta_2} \cdots f_{i_n}^{\beta_n}, \quad \Psi_n = f_{i_1}^{\beta_1 + \langle \beta_1, \mu \rangle} f_{i_2}^{\beta_2 + \langle \beta_2, \mu \rangle} \cdots f_{i_n}^{\beta_n + \langle \beta_n, \mu \rangle}.$$

This is equivalent to $\tau_{(w_n(\mu))} = \widetilde{w}_n(\Phi_n^{-1}\Psi_n)\tau^{w_n(\mu)}$.

Remark 2.6. In general, for $w \in W$ and $\mu \in P_+$, there exists a unique $\phi_w(\mu) \in \mathcal{A}$ with $\tau_{(w(\mu))} = \phi_w(\mu)\tau^{w(\mu)}$. In [24], the classical version of $\phi_w(\mu)$ is called the τ -cocycle. In the quantum case, $\phi_w(\mu)$ does not commute with τ^{μ} in general. This is the reason why we does not deal with $\phi_w(\mu)$ but $\tau_{(w(\mu))}$.

Let $\sigma: U^- \to U^-$ be the anti-algebra involution of U_- which sends f_i to f_i ($i \in I$). That is, the linear transformation σ reverses the order of products of f_i 's in U_- . Denote the unique extension of σ to the anti-algebra involution of $\widetilde{U}_- = U_-[f_i^{-1}|i \in I]$ by the same symbol.

Assume that $\lambda \in P$. The Verma module $M(\lambda)$ is defined to be the left U-module generated by v_{λ} with fundamental relations $e_i v_{\lambda} = 0$ $(i \in I)$, $h_i v_{\lambda} = \langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \lambda \rangle v_{\lambda}$ $(i \in I)$ in the Kac-Moody case and $e_i v_{\lambda} = 0$ $(i \in I)$, $q^{h_i} v_{\lambda} = q^{\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \lambda \rangle} v_{\lambda}$ $(i \in I)$ in the q-difference case. The vector v_{λ} is called the highest weight vector of $M(\lambda)$.

For $\lambda \in P$, the highest weight simple module $L(\lambda)$ is defined to be the unique simple quotient of the Verma module $M(\lambda)$. The highest weight vector u_{λ} of $L(\lambda)$ is defined to be the image of $v_{\lambda} \in M(\lambda)$ in $L(\lambda)$. The simple module $L(\lambda)$ is integrable if and only if $\lambda \in P_+$.

Recall that the Weyl vector $\rho \in P_+$ satisfies $\langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \rho \rangle = 1$ $(i \in I)$. Define the shifted action of the Weyl group on P by $w \circ \lambda = w(\lambda + \rho) - \rho$ $(w \in W, \lambda \in P)$.

Assume that $\lambda \in P_+$ and $w \in W$. We define $F_{w,\lambda} \in U_-$ by

$$F_{w,\lambda} = f_{j_m}^{\langle \alpha_{j_m}^\vee, s_{m_{l-1}} \cdots s_{j_2} s_{j_1} \circ \lambda \rangle + 1} \cdots f_{j_2}^{\langle \alpha_{j_2}^\vee, s_{j_1} \circ \lambda \rangle + 1} f_{j_1}^{\langle \alpha_{j_1}^\vee, \lambda \rangle + 1},$$

where $w = s_{j_m} \cdots s_{j_2} s_{j_1}$ is a reduced expression of w. Note that $F_{w,\lambda}$ is independent on the choice of the reduced expression of w owing to the Verma identities, and $F_{w,\lambda}v_{\lambda}$ is a singular vector with weight $w \circ \lambda$ in the Verma module $M(\lambda)$, which is unique up to scalar multiples. (For the uniqueness, see 4.4.15 of [13].) For $\lambda \in P_+$, the kernel of the canonical projection from $M(\lambda)$ onto $L(\lambda)$ is generated by $\{F_{s_i,\lambda}v_{\lambda}=f_i^{\langle \alpha_i^{\vee},\lambda\rangle+1}v_{\lambda}\}_{i\in I}$.

Using $\langle \beta_k, \lambda + \rho \rangle = \langle \alpha_{i_k}^{\vee}, s_{i_{k-1}} \cdots s_{i_2} s_{i_1} \circ (\lambda) \rangle + 1$ for $k = 0, 1, \dots, N$, we obtain

$$\sigma(\phi_{\lambda+\rho}(\Phi_n)) = F_{w_n,\lambda}, \quad \sigma(\phi_{\lambda+\rho}(\Psi_n)) = F_{w_n,\lambda+\mu}.$$

The quantum τ -function $\tau_{(w_n(\mu))}$ and the singular vectors $F_{w_n,\lambda}v_\lambda \in M(\lambda)$, $F_{w_n,\lambda+\mu}v_{\lambda+\mu} \in M(\lambda+\mu)$ are related in this way.

For each $i \in I$, the multiplicative subset of U_{-} generated by the single f_i is an Ore set in U_{-} owing to the Serre and q-Serre relations. Therefore we obtain the localization $U_{-}[f_i^{-1}] \subset \widetilde{U}_{-}$ of U_{-} with respect to it.

For each $i \in I$, we set $U_-[f_i^{-1}]^{\mathrm{pa}} = U_-[f_i^{-1}][\beta|\beta \in Q^{\vee}]$ in the Kac-Moody case and $U_-[f_i^{-1}]^{\mathrm{pa}} = U_-[f_i^{-1}][q^{\beta}|\beta \in Q^{\vee}]$ in the q-difference case. Then $U_-[f_i^{-1}]^{\mathrm{pa}}$ is a subalgebra of $\widetilde{U}^{\mathrm{pa}}$.

For each $\lambda \in P$, the algebra homomorphism $\phi_{\lambda}: U_{-}[f_{i}^{-1}]^{\text{pa}} \to U_{-}[f_{i}^{-1}]$ is defined to be the restriction of $\phi_{\lambda}: \widetilde{U}_{-}^{\text{pa}} = \widetilde{A}^{\text{pa}} \to \widetilde{A} = \widetilde{U}_{-}$ on $U_{-}[f_{i}^{-1}]^{\text{pa}}$.

Lemma 2.7. For any $a \in U_-[f_i^{-1}]^{pa}$, if $\phi_{\lambda+\rho}(a) \in U_-$ for all $\lambda \in P_+$, then $a \in U_-^{pa}$.

Proof. Let $U_{-}[i]$ be the subalgebra of U_{-} generated by $\sigma((\operatorname{ad} f_{i})^{k}(f_{j}))$ for $j \in I \setminus \{i\}$ and $k = 0, 1, \ldots, -a_{ij}$. Then $U_{-} = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\infty} U_{-}[i]f_{i}^{k}$ (Section 38.1 of [17]). Therefore we have $U_{-}[f_{i}^{-1}] = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} U_{-}[i]f_{i}^{k}$. Put $U_{-}[i]^{\operatorname{pa}} = U_{-}[i][\alpha_{j}^{\vee}|j \in I]$ in the Kac-Moody case and $U_{-}[i]^{\operatorname{pa}} = U_{-}[i][q^{\beta}|\beta \in Q^{\vee}]$ in the q-difference case. Then we have $U_{-}[f_{i}^{-1}]^{\operatorname{pa}} = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} U_{-}[i]^{\operatorname{pa}}f_{i}^{k}$. Therefore any $a \in U_{-}[f_{i}^{-1}]^{\operatorname{pa}}$ is uniquely expressed as $a = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} a_{k}f_{i}^{k}$ where

all $a_k \in U_-[i]^{\mathrm{pa}}$ $(k \in \mathbb{Z})$ are zero except for finite number of k. Then $\phi_{\lambda}(a) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \phi_{\lambda}(a_k) f_i^k$. Therefore $\phi_{\lambda+\rho}(a) \in U_-$ for all $\lambda \in P_+$ implies $a_k = 0$ for all k < 0. Thus we obtain $a \in U_-^{\mathrm{pa}}$.

Lemma 2.8. If $F_{w_n,\lambda+\mu} \in U_-F_{w_n,\lambda}$ for all $\lambda \in P_+$ and n = 0, 1, 2, ..., N, then the quantum τ -function $\tau_{(w_n(\mu))}$ is regular for each n = 0, 1, ..., N.

Proof. The quantum τ -function $\tau_{(w_n(\mu))}$ is regular if and only if $\Phi_n^{-1}\Psi_n \in U_-^{\mathrm{pa}}$. Inductively we assume that $1 \leq n \leq N$ and $\Phi_{n-1}^{-1}\Psi_{n-1} \in U_-^{\mathrm{pa}}$. Lemma 1.15 leads to

$$\Phi_n^{-1}\Psi_n = f_{i_n}^{-\beta_n}\Phi_{n-1}^{-1}\Psi_{n-1}f_{i_n}^{\beta_n+\langle\beta_n,\mu\rangle} \in U_-[f_{i_n}^{-1}]^{\mathrm{pa}}.$$

We have $\sigma(\phi_{\lambda+\rho}(\Phi_n^{-1}\Psi_n)) = F_{w_n,\lambda+\mu}F_{w_n,\lambda}^{-1}$. By Lemma 2.7, if $F_{w_n,\lambda+\mu} \in U_-F_{w_n,\lambda}$ for all $\lambda \in P_+$, then $\Phi_n^{-1}\Psi_n \in U_-^{\mathrm{pa}}$.

Lemma 2.8 immediately leads to the following proposition.

Proposition 2.9. If $F_{w,\lambda+\mu} \in U_-F_{w,\lambda}$ for all $\lambda, \mu \in P_+$ and $w \in W$, then the all quantum τ -functions $\tau_{(w(\mu))}$ are regular.

In this way, we can reduce the regularity of the quantum τ -functions to the divisibility (from the right) of $F_{w,\lambda+\mu}$ by $F_{w,\lambda}$ for $\lambda,\mu\in P_+$ and $w\in W$.

2.5 Proof of regularity in the Kac-Moody case

In this subsection, we assume that $A = U_{-} = U(\mathfrak{n}_{-})$ and shall use the integral weight part (*P*-part) of the results of [2] on the BGG category for the Kac-Moody algebra \mathfrak{g} .

A left \mathfrak{g} -module M is said to be integrally \mathfrak{h} -diagonalizable if $M = \bigoplus_{\nu \in P} M_{\nu}$ where $M_{\nu} = \{ v \in M \mid h_i v = \langle \alpha_i^{\vee}, \nu \rangle v \ (i \in I) \}$ for $\nu \in P$. We call M_{ν} 's the weight subspaces of M and ν a weight of M if $M_{\nu} \neq 0$.

Let \mathcal{O}_P be the category of left \mathfrak{g} -modules M satisfying the following conditions:

- (A) M is integrally \mathfrak{h} -diagonalizable with finite-dimensional weight spaces;
- (B) There exists finitely many weights $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_n \in P$ such that any weight of M belongs to $\bigcup_{k=1}^n (\mu_k Q_+)$.

Then we have the Verma module $M(\lambda)$ and its simple quotient $L(\lambda)$ are objects of \mathcal{O}_P if $\lambda \in P$. The simple module $L(\lambda)$ is integrable if and only if $\lambda \in P_+$.

Define the subset K_P^g of the weight lattice P by

$$K_P^{\mathrm{g}} = W \circ P_+ = W(P_+ + \rho) - \rho = \{\, w \circ \lambda = w(\lambda + \rho) - \rho \mid w \in W, \lambda \in P_+ \,\}.$$

Let \mathcal{O}_P^g be the full subcategory of \mathcal{O}_P consisting of \mathcal{O}_P -objects all simple subquotients of which are isomorphic to $L(\nu)$ for some $\nu \in K_P^g$. Then the Verma modules $M(w \circ \lambda)$ for $w \in W$ and $\lambda \in P_+$ are objects of \mathcal{O}_P^g .

For $\lambda \in P_+$, let \mathcal{O}_{λ} be the full subcategory of $\mathcal{O}_P^{\mathrm{g}}$ consisting of $\mathcal{O}_P^{\mathrm{g}}$ -objects all simple subquotients of which are isomorphic to $L(w \circ \lambda)$ for some $w \in W$. Then any $\mathcal{O}_P^{\mathrm{g}}$ -object

decomposes uniquely as a direct sum of \mathcal{O}_{λ} -objects for $\lambda \in P_+$ (the integral part of Theorem 5.7 of [2]). For any \mathcal{O}_P^g -object M, denote by $\operatorname{pr}_{\lambda}(M)$ the \mathcal{O}_{λ} -component of M.

For $\mu, \lambda \in P_+$, the translation functor $T_{\mu}^{\lambda+\mu}: \mathcal{O}_{\lambda} \to \mathcal{O}_{\lambda+\mu}$ is defined by $T_{\lambda+\mu}^{\lambda}(M) = \operatorname{pr}_{\lambda+\mu}(M \otimes L(\mu))$ for $M \in \operatorname{Ob} \mathcal{O}_{\lambda}$. This functor is exact. The following lemma is the integral part of Theorem 5.13 of [2].

Lemma 2.10. For $\lambda, \mu \in P_+$ and $w \in W$, the \mathfrak{g} -module $T_{\lambda}^{\lambda+\mu}(M(w \circ \lambda))$ is isomorphic to $M(w \circ (\lambda + \mu))$.

For details of the theory of translation functor for the Kac-Moody Lie algebras, see [2]. (See also Section 2 of [14].)

The following theorem is a canonically quantized version of Theorem 1.3 of [25].

Theorem 2.11. In the Kac-Moody case, the all quantum τ -functions $\tau_{(\nu)}$ for $\nu \in WP_+$ are regular. More precisely they are polynomials in $\{f_i, \alpha_i^{\vee}\}_{i \in I}$.

Proof. By Proposition 2.9 it is sufficient to show $F_{w,\lambda+\mu} \in U_-F_{w,\lambda}$ for $\lambda, \mu \in P_+$ and $w \in W$. Fix $\lambda, \mu \in P_+$ and $w \in W$. Denote $T_{\lambda}^{\lambda+\mu}$ by T.

Since $F_{w,\lambda}v_{\lambda}$ is a singular vector with weight $w \circ \lambda$, we can identify $M(w \circ \lambda)$ with $U_{-}F_{w,\lambda}v_{\lambda} \subset M(\lambda)$. We can also identify $M(\lambda + \mu)$ with $U_{-}(v_{\lambda} \otimes u_{\mu}) \subset M(\lambda) \otimes L(\mu)$, and $M(w \circ (\lambda + \mu))$ with $\subset M(\lambda + \mu)$.

By the exactness of the translation functor, we can regard $T(M(w \circ \lambda))$ as a submodule of $T(M(\lambda))$. By Lemma 2.10 and the uniqueness (up to scalar multiples) of the non-zero homomorphism from $M(w \circ (\lambda + \mu))$ to $M(\lambda + \mu)$, we obtain $T(M(w \circ \lambda)) = M(w \circ (\lambda + \mu)) = U_-F_{w,\lambda+\mu}(v_\lambda \otimes u_\mu)$. Therefore

$$F_{w,\lambda+\mu}(v_{\lambda}\otimes u_{\mu})\in M(w\circ(\lambda+\mu))=T(M(w\circ\lambda))\subset M(w\circ\lambda)\otimes L(\mu).$$

On the other hand, we can rewrite $F_{w,\lambda+\mu}(v_{\lambda}\otimes u_{\mu})$ in the following form:

$$F_{w,\lambda+\mu}(v_{\lambda}\otimes u_{\mu})=(F_{w,\lambda+\mu}v_{\lambda})\otimes u_{\mu}+\sum_{k}a_{k}\otimes u_{k},$$

where $\{u_k\}$ is a basis of $\bigoplus_{\nu\neq\mu} L(\mu)_{\nu}$ and a_k 's are some elements of $M(\lambda)$. Therefore $F_{w,\lambda+\mu}v_{\lambda}$ and a_k 's belong to $M(w \circ \lambda) = U_-F_{w,\lambda}v_{\lambda}$. In particular, $F_{w,\lambda+\mu} \in U_-F_{w,\lambda}$.

Remark 2.12. The classical limit of Theorem 2.11 gives another proof of the regularity of the classical τ -functions (Theorem 1.3 of [25]). In [25], Noumi and Yamada proves the regularity of the classical τ -functions by using the idea of the Sato theory of soliton equations [30]. Our method is completely different from it.

2.6 Proof of regularity in the q-difference case

In this subsection, we fix an arbitrary complex number \hbar which is not a root of unity. In order to prove the regularity of the quantum τ -functions in the q-difference case, it is enough to show the regularity in the case where q is specialized at e^{\hbar} .

Let $U_{\hbar}(\mathfrak{g})$ be the associative algebra over \mathbb{C} generated by $\{e_i, f_i, q^{\beta} \mid i \in I, \beta \in Q^{\vee}\}$ with the same fundamental relations of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ specialized at $q = e^{\hbar}$. For each $\lambda \in P$, the Verma module $M_{\hbar}(\lambda)$ over $U_{\hbar}(\mathfrak{g})$ and its simple quotient $L_{\hbar}(\lambda)$ are similarly defined as in the case of $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$. The simple module $L_{\hbar}(\lambda)$ is integrable if and only if $\lambda \in P_+$. For $\lambda \in P_+$ and $w \in W$, there exists a non-zero $U_{\hbar}(\mathfrak{g})$ -homomorphism from $M_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda)$ to $M_{\hbar}(\lambda)$, which is injective and unique up to scalar multiples. For the uniqueness, see 4.4.15 of [13]. Although it deal with the case where q is an indeterminate, its proof holds for $q = e^{\hbar} \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ not a root of unity (Section 2.4 of [9]). We regard $M_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda)$ as a submodule of $M_{\hbar}(\lambda)$.

In the following, we assume that $\lambda, \mu \in P_+$ and $w \in W$.

Since the analogue of Proposition 2.9 for $U_{\hbar}(\mathfrak{g})$ also holds, the regularity of the quantum τ -functions in the q-difference case specialized at $q = e^{\hbar}$ can be also obtained by the same argument as in Section 2.5 if there exists $U_{\hbar}(\mathfrak{g})$ -modules $T_{\hbar}(\lambda)$ and $T_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda)$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (a) $T_{\hbar}(\lambda)$ is a submodule of $M_{\hbar}(\lambda) \otimes L_{\hbar}(\mu)$ and isomorphic to $M_{\hbar}(\lambda + \mu)$.
- (b) $T_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda)$ is a submodule of $M_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda) \otimes L_{\hbar}(\mu)$ and isomorphic to $M_{\hbar}(w \circ (\lambda + \mu))$.
- (c) $T_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda)$ is a submodule of $T_{\hbar}(\lambda)$.

Under the conditions above, replacing $T(M(\lambda))$ and $T(M(w \circ \lambda))$ in the proof of Theorem 2.11 with $T_{\hbar}(\lambda)$ and $T_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda)$ respectively, we obtain the regularity of the q-difference version of the quantum τ -function $\tau_{(w(\mu))} = w(\tau^{\mu})$ specialized at $q = e^{\hbar}$.

A left $U_{\hbar}(\mathfrak{g})$ -module M is said to be integrally \mathfrak{h} -diagonalizable if $M = \bigoplus_{\nu \in P} M_{\nu}$ where the weight subspaces are defined by $M_{\nu} = \{ v \in M \mid q^{\beta}v = e^{\hbar\langle\beta,\nu\rangle}v \ (\beta \in Q^{\vee}) \}$ for $\nu \in P$. Let $\mathcal{O}_{\hbar,P}$ be the category of left $U_{\hbar}(\mathfrak{g})$ -modules M satisfying the conditions (A) and (B) in Section 2.5. Then, for each $\lambda \in P$, the Verma module $M_{\hbar}(\lambda)$ over $U_{\hbar}(\mathfrak{g})$ and its simple quotient $L_{\hbar}(\lambda)$ are objects of $\mathcal{O}_{\hbar,P}$.

Let $\{g_k\}$ and $\{g^k\}$ be the dual bases of the symmetrizable Kac-Moody algebra \mathfrak{g} with respect to the canonical non-degenerate symmetric invariant bilinear form on \mathfrak{g} . Set $\Omega = \sum_k g_k \otimes g^k$. Following Drinfeld [4], using the associator, we can define on \mathcal{O}_P the structure of a braided tensor category with braiding $e^{\hbar\Omega}$. (For details, see [4] and [5].) Since \hbar is not a root of unity, the universal R-matrix \mathcal{R} for $U_{\hbar}(\mathfrak{g})$ is well-defined and the category $\mathcal{O}_{\hbar,P}$ is also a braided tensor category with braiding defined by \mathcal{R} .

By Theorem 4.10 of [6], there exists a braided tensor functor $F_{\hbar}: \mathcal{O}_P \to \mathcal{O}_{\hbar,P}$, which is the identity functor at the level of P-graded vector spaces and preserves the Verma modules and the integrable simple modules. In particular, we have

$$F_{\hbar}(M(\lambda)) = M_{\hbar}(\lambda), \quad F_{\hbar}(M(w \circ \lambda)) = M_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda), \quad F_{\hbar}(L(\mu)) = L_{\hbar}(\mu),$$

$$F_{\hbar}(M(\lambda) \otimes L(\mu)) = M_{\hbar}(\lambda) \otimes L_{\hbar}(\mu), \quad F_{\hbar}(M(w \circ \lambda) \otimes L(\mu)) = M_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda) \otimes L_{\hbar}(\mu),$$

$$F_{\hbar}(M(\lambda + \mu)) = M_{\hbar}(\lambda + \mu), \quad F_{\hbar}(M(w \circ (\lambda + \mu))) = M_{\hbar}(w \circ (\lambda + \mu)).$$

Define the $U_{\hbar}(\mathfrak{g})$ -modules $T_{\hbar}(\lambda)$ and $T_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda)$ by

$$T_{\hbar}(\lambda) = F_{\hbar}(T_{\lambda}^{\lambda+\mu}(M(\lambda))), \quad T_{\hbar}(w \circ \lambda) = F_{\hbar}(T_{\lambda}^{\lambda+\mu}(M(w \circ \lambda))).$$

Then the conditions (a), (b), and (c) are satisfied. It concludes the following theorem.

Theorem 2.13. Also in the q-difference case, the all quantum τ -functions $\tau_{(\nu)}$ ($\nu \in WP_+$) are regular. More precisely they are polynomials in $\{f_i, q^{\pm \alpha_i^{\vee}}\}_{i \in I}$.

This theorem is not only a canonically quantized version of Theorem 1.3 of [25] but also its q-difference analogue.

References

- [1] Berenstein, Arkady and Kazhdan, David. Geometric and unipotent crystals. GAFA 2000 (Tel Aviv, 1999). Geom. Funct. Anal. 2000, Special Volume, Part I, 188–236. arXiv:math/9912105
- [2] Deodhar, Vinay V., Gabber, Ofer, and Kac, Victor. Structure of some categories of representations of infinite-dimensional Lie algebras. Adv. in Math. 45 (1982), no. 1, 92–116.
- [3] Dixmier, Jacques. Enveloping Algebras, The 1996 Printing of the 1977 English Translation. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, Volume 11, American Mathematical Society, 1996, 379 pp.
- [4] Drinfel'd, V. G. Quasi-Hopf algebras. (Russian) Algebra i Analiz 1 (1989), no. 6, 114–148; translation in Leningrad Math. J. 1 (1990), no. 6, 1419–1457.
- [5] Etingof, Pavel and Kazhdan, David. Quantization of Lie bialgebras. I. Selecta Math. (N.S.) 2 (1996), no. 1, 1–41.
- [6] Etingof, Pavel and Kazhdan, David. Quantization of Lie bialgebras. VI. Quantization of generalized Kac-Moody algebras. Transform. Groups 13 (2008), no. 3–4, 527–539.
- [7] Goodearl, K. R. and Warfield, R. B., Jr., An introduction to noncommutative Noetherian rings, Second edition. London Mathematical Society Student Texts, 61, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004, xxiv+344 pp.
- [8] Hasegawa, Koji. Quantizing the Bäcklund transformations of Painlevé equations and the quantum discrete Painlevé VI equation. Exploring new structures and natural constructions in mathematical physics, 275–288, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 61, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2011. arXiv:math/0703036
- [9] Heckenberger, I. and Kolb, S. On the Bernstein-Gelfand-Gelfand resolution for Kac-Moody algebras and quantized enveloping algebras. Transform. Groups 12 (2007), no. 4, 647–655. arXiv:math/0605460
- [10] Hirota, Ryogo. Discrete analogue of a generalized Toda equation. J. Phys. Soc. Japan 50 (1981), no. 11, 3785–3791.
- [11] Jategaonkar, A. V. Localization in Noetherian rings. London Mathematical Society lecture note series, 98, Cambridge University Press, 1986, xii+323 pp.

REFERENCES 27

[12] Jimbo, M., Nagoya, H., and Sun, J. Remarks on the confluent KZ equation for \mathfrak{sl}_2 and quantum Painlevé equations. J. Phys. A 41 (2008), no. 17, 175205, 14 pp.

- [13] Joseph, Anthony. Quantum groups and their primitive ideals. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], 29. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995. x+383 pp.
- [14] Kac, Victor G. and Wakimoto, Minoru. Modular invariant representations of infinite-dimensional Lie algebras and superalgebras. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85 (1988), no. 14, 4956–4960.
- [15] Kajiwara, Kenji, Noumi, Masatoshi, and Yamada, Yasuhiko. A study on the fourth q-Painlevé equation. J. Phys. A 34 (2001), no. 41, 85638581. arXiv:nlin/0012063
- [16] Kuroki, Gen. Quantum groups and quantization of Weyl group symmetries of Painlevé systems. Exploring new structures and natural constructions in mathematical physics, 289–325, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 61, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2011. arXiv:0808.2604
- [17] Lusztig, George. Introduction to quantum groups. Reprint of the 1994 edition. Modern Birkhauser Classics. Birkhauser/Springer, New York, 2010. xiv+346 pp.
- [18] McConnell, J. C. and Robson, J. C., Noncommutative Noetherian rings, With the cooperation of L. W. Small, Revised edition, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 30, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001, xx+636 pp.
- [19] Miwa, Tetsuji. On Hirota's difference equations. Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci. 58 (1982), no. 1, 9–12.
- [20] Nagoya, H. Hypergeometric solutions to Schrödinger equations for the quantum Painlevé equations. J. Math. Phys. 52 (2011), no. 8, 083509, 16 pp. arXiv:1109.1645
- [21] Nagoya, Hajime. Realizations of Affine Weyl Group Symmetries on the Quantum Painlevé Equations by Fractional Calculus. Lett. Math. Phys. Online First, 29 March 2012, DOI: 10.1007/s11005-012-0557-6. http://www.springerlink.com/content/1470478223ugw4k1/
- [22] Nagoya, Hajime, Grammaticos, Basil, and Ramani, Alfred. Quantum Painlevé equations: from continuous to discrete. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 4 (2008), Paper 051, 9 pp. arXiv:0806.1466
- [23] Noumi, Masatoshi. Painlevé equations through symmetry. Translated from the 2000 Japanese original by the author. Translations of Mathematical Monographs, 223. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2004. x+156 pp.
- [24] Noumi, Masatoshi and Yamada, Yasuhiko. Symmetries in the fourth Painlevé equation and Okamoto polynomials. Nagoya Math. J. 153 (1999), 53–86. arXiv:q-alg/9708018

28 REFERENCES

[25] Noumi, Masatoshi and Yamada, Yasuhiko. Birational Weyl group action arising from a nilpotent Poisson algebra. Physics and combinatorics 1999 (Nagoya), 287–319, World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 2001. arXiv:math.QA/0012028

- [26] Okamoto, Kazuo. On the τ -function of the Painlevé equations. Phys. D 2 (1981), no. 3, 525–535.
- [27] Okamoto, Kazuo. Studies on the Painlevé equations. III. Second and fourth Painlevé equations, PII and PIV. Math. Ann. 275 (1986), no. 2, 221–255.
- [28] Oshima, Toshio. Fractional calculus of Weyl algebra and Fuchsian differential equations. Preprint arXiv:1102.2792
- [29] Rocha-Caridi, Alvany and Wallach, Nolan R., Characters of irreducible representations of the Virasoro algebra, Math. Z. 185 (1984), no. 1, 1–21.
- [30] Sato, Mikio and Sato, Yasuko. Soliton equations as dynamical systems on infinite-dimensional Grassmann manifold. Nonlinear partial differential equations in applied science (Tokyo, 1982), 259–271, North-Holland Math. Stud., 81, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1983.
- [31] Smith, P. F. Localization and the AR property. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 22 (1971), 39–68.
- [32] Yamada, Yasuhiko. Determinant formulas of the τ -functions of the Painlevé equations of type A. Nagoya Math. J. 156 (1999), 123134. arXiv:math/9808002
- [33] Yamada, Yasuhiko. Special polynomials and generalized Painlevé equations. Combinatorial methods in representation theory (Kyoto, 1998), 391400, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 28, Kinokuniya, Tokyo, 2000. http://www.math.kobe-u.ac.jp/~yamaday/comb.ps
- [34] Yamakawa, Daisuke. Quiver varieties with multiplicities, Weyl groups of non-symmetric Kac-Moody algebras, and Painlevé equations. SIGMA Symmetry Integrability Geom. Methods Appl. 6 (2010), Paper 087, 43 pp. arXiv:1003.3633